Public Document Pack

AGENDA FOR THE EXECUTIVE
Date:

Monday, 7 September 2015

Time:

6:00 pm

Venue:

Collingwood Room - Civic Offices

Executive Members:

Councillor S D T Woodward, Policy and Resources (Executive Leader)
Councillor T M Cartwright, MBE, Public Protection (Deputy Executive Leader)
Councillor Miss S M Bell, Leisure and Community
Councillor K D Evans, Planning and Development
Councillor Miss T G Harper, Streetscene
Councillor Mrs K Mandry, Health and Housing

-2-

1.

Apologies for Absence

2.

Minutes (Pages 1 - 4)
To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of Executive held on 13
July 2015.

3.

Executive Leader's Announcements

4.

Declarations of Interest
To receive any declarations of interest from members in accordance with Standing
Orders and the Council’s Code of Conduct.

5.

Petitions

6.

Deputations
To receive any deputations, of which notice has been lodged.

7.

References from Other Committees
To receive any references from the committees or panels held.
Matters for Decision in Public

Note: Where an urgent item of business is raised in accordance with Part 3 of the
Constitution, it will be considered with the relevant service decisions as appropriate.
8.

Leisure and Community

Key Decision
(1)

Award of Contract for the Refurbishment of Segensworth Play Area and
Stubbington Recreation Ground Play Area (Pages 5 - 10)
A report by the Director of Community.

(2)

Award of Contract - Support Services for Community and Voluntary
Services, Fareham (Pages 11 - 18)
A report by the Director of Community.

9.

Planning and Development

Key Decision
(1)

Fareham Borough Non-Residential Parking Standards: for Adoption
(Pages 19 - 56)
A report by the Director of Planning and Development.

10. Policy and Resources
Non-Key Decision

-3-

(1)

Annual Review of the Corporate Strategy 2011-2017 (Pages 57 - 76)
A report by the Director of Finance and Resources.

(2)

Local Service Agreements (Pages 77 - 100)
A report by the Director of Finance and Resources.

(3)

Citizen of Honour Award Scheme - Special Achievement Category (Pages
101 - 104)
A report by the Director of Finance and Resources.

11. Policy and Resources/Health and Housing
Non-Key Decision
(1)

Purchase of Garages - Wynton Way, Fareham (Pages 105 - 112)
Report of the Director of Finance and Resources and Director of Community.

P GRIMWOOD
Chief Executive Officer
www.fareham.gov.uk
28 August 2015

For further information please contact:
Democratic Services, Civic Offices, Fareham, PO16 7AZ
Tel: 01329 236100
democraticservices@fareham.gov.uk

Agenda Item 2

Minutes of the
Executive
(to be confirmed at the next meeting)
Date:

Monday, 13 July 2015

Venue:

Ground Floor - Civic Offices

Present:
S D T Woodward, Policy and Resources (Executive Leader)
T M Cartwright, MBE, Public Protection (Deputy Executive
Leader)
Miss S M Bell, Leisure and Community
K D Evans, Planning and Development
Miss T G Harper, Streetscene
Mrs K Mandry, Health and Housing
Also in attendance:
B Bayford, Chairman of Health and Housing Policy Development and Review Panel
Mrs P M Bryant, Chairman of Licensing and Regulatory Affairs Committee; for item
9(2)
Mrs M E Ellerton, Chairman of Public Protection Policy Development and Review
Panel
M J Ford, JP, Mayor
Mrs C L A Hockley, Chairman of Leisure and Community Policy Development and
Review Panel
L Keeble, Chairman of Streetscene Policy Development and Review Panel
T G Knight, Chairman of Audit and Governance Committee; for item 9(1)
N J Walker, Chairman of Planning Committee
C J Wood, for item 9(1)

Page 1

Executive

1.

-2-

13 July 2015

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
There were no apologies given for this meeting.

2.

MINUTES
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of the Executive held on 18 May
2015 be confirmed and signed as correct record.

3.

EXECUTIVE LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS
There were no Executive Leader’s announcements at this meeting.

4.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
Councillor C J Wood declared a Non-Pecuniary Personal Interest when he
addressed the Executive on item 9(1) – Daedalus Vision and Outline Strategy,
due to the close proximity of his parents’ property to the Daedalus site.

5.

PETITIONS
There were no petitions submitted at this meeting.

6.

DEPUTATIONS
There were no deputations made at this meeting.

7.

REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES
There were no references from other Committees given at this meeting.

8.

PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT

(1)

Welborne Financial Update

RESOLVED that the Executive notes the final report on the financial costs of
producing the Welborne Plan.
9.

POLICY AND RESOURCES

(1)

Daedalus Vision and Outline Strategy

At the invitation of the Executive Leader, Councillors C J Wood and T G Knight
addressed the Executive on this item.
Before addressing the Executive, Councillor C J Wood declared a NonPecuniary Personal Interest due to the close proximity of his parents’ property
to the Daedalus site.

Page 2

Executive

-3-

13 July 2015

The Executive Leader confirmed that a number of minor amendments would
be made to correct typing errors prior to the document being sent out for
consultation.
RESOLVED that the Executive:
(a) notes the draft Vision and Outline Strategy attached at Appendix A to this
report and requests officers to undertake a public consultation exercise
with local residents and interested parties; and
(b) delegates authority to the Director of Finance & Resources to amend the
fees and charges from time to time, following consultation with the Policy &
Resources portfolio holder, and to introduce ad-hoc promotional
arrangements as appropriate.
(2)

Matched Funding

At the invitation of the Executive Leader, Councillor Mrs P Bryant addressed
the Executive on this item.
RESOLVED that the Executive agrees a matched funding award of £40,000
towards the repairs and restoration work of Holy Trinity Church’s clock tower,
subject to:
(a)
(b)
(c)
(3)

the remainder of funding being in place;
a Community Use Agreement being signed by Holy Trinity Church; and
receipt of all Local Authority approvals for the works.
General Fund and Housing Revenue Account Outturn 2014/15

The Executive Leader introduced a tabled amendment to paragraph 4 of the
Executive Briefing Paper which corrected the wording and value of the
underspend from salaries and associated costs.
RESOLVED that:
(a)

(b)
(c)
(d)
(4)

completion of the General Fund expenditure programmes contained in
this report be approved, subject to the amount for Community Grants
being increased from £28,000 to £90,000;
the balance on the Housing Revenue and Repairs Accounts as at 31
March 2015 be carried over to 2015/16;
the following budget be carried forward:
i. £5,000 HRA – Consultants; and
the report be noted.
Capital and Treasury Management Outturn 2014/15

RESOLVED that the Executive agrees:
(a)
(b)
(c)

the capital programme for 2014/15 be approved and financed as set out
in Appendix A to the report;
the additional expenditure incurred, amounting to £389,023 be financed
retrospectively from surplus capital resources; and
the actual capital expenditure and treasury management activity for
2014/15 be noted.
Page 3

Executive

10.

-4-

13 July 2015

EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS
RESOLVED that the public and representatives of the Press be excluded from
the remainder of the meeting on the grounds that the matters to be dealt with
involve the likely disclosure of exempt information, as defined in Paragraph 3
of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

11.

PUBLIC PROTECTION

(1)

Notification of Award of CCTV Monitoring Contract

RESOLVED that the Executive notes the award of contract as set out in
Appendix A of the report.
12.

POLICY AND RESOURCES

(1)

Schedule of Tenders

RESOLVED that the Executive notes the details of all tenders received and
contracts awarded, over the value of £50,000, during the six month period
ending 6 April 2015, as set out in Appendix A of the report.
(The meeting started at 6.00 pm
and ended at 6.40 pm).

Page 4

Agenda Item 8(1)

Report to the Executive for Decision
7 September 2015
Portfolio:

Leisure and Community

Subject:

Award of Contract for the Refurbishment of
Segensworth Play Area and Stubbington Recreation
Ground Play Area

Report of:

Director of Community

Strategy/Policy:

Leisure Strategy

Corporate Objective:

Leisure for Health and Fun

Purpose:
This report considers the tenders received for the design, supply and installation of
new play equipment at Segensworth Play Area and Stubbington Recreation Ground
Play Area and recommends an award of contract for both improvement projects to
one contractor.

Executive summary:
In March 2015 the Executive approved a three -year improvement programme for
the Council’s play areas utilising section 106 developer contributions.
The play areas identified for improvement in years 2015/16 of the Open Space
Improvement Programme are; Segensworth and Stubbington Recreation Ground
Play Areas.
This report provides the Executive with information regarding the tenders received
for these proposed play area improvements and seeks an award of contract
decision.

Recommendation/Recommended Option:
That the Executive agrees that the tender submitted by the contractor ranked 1 (as
set out in the confidential appendix A) being the most advantageous tender
received, be accepted and the contract to refurbish all three play areas be awarded
to that company.

Reason:
To refurbish existing play areas, to provide new and improved play facilities for local
children and young people.

Page 5

Cost of proposals:
The total budget of refurbishing both play areas is £160,000. This can be met from
section 106 developer contributions as detailed in the Council’s Open Space
Improvement Programme, subject to the Executive decision to award the contract.

Appendices:

A: Tender Prices and Evaluation Table – Confidential

Background papers: September 2014, Leisure and Community Policy
Development and Review Panel, Open Spaces Improvement
Programme – Play Areas and other (non-sport) Recreational
Facilities

Page 6

Executive Briefing Paper
Date: 02 March 2015
Subject: Award of Contract for the refurbishment of Segensworth Play Area and
Stubbington Recreation Ground Play Areas
Briefing by: Director of Community
Portfolio: Leisure and Community
INTRODUCTION
1.

As part of the Play Area Improvement Programme for 2015/16 the Council will be
refurbishing Segensworth and Stubbington Recreation Ground Play Areas.

2.

The total budget to undertake these improvement works at both sites is £160,000
and can be funded from the existing Open Space Improvement Programme,
using section 106 developer contributions.

3.

A series of consultation exercises have been undertaken with local residents,
schools and groups to help identify how best to improve the play facilities to help
ensure the needs of the local community are met.

4.

An invitation to tender for this project was issued on 7th July 2015 via the South
East Business Portal to the nine (9) suppliers listed on ESPO framework
agreement (Ref no. ESP0115)

PROPOSAL
5.

On the 18 August 2015, 4(four) tenders were received and opened by
Democratic Services and the Procurement Officer. The tender price details are
presented in the confidential appendix A.

EVALUATION PROCESS
6.

The contract documents defined a pre-determined scoring mechanism whereby
tenders are assessed on price, service and quality including play value.

7.

The tender submissions were evaluated and the scores weighted as specified in
the invitation to tender. The scores and ranking for all 4 (four) tenders received
are represented in the confidential appendix A.

8.

Tenderers were required to complete a ‘Tenderers Compliance and Response’
pro-forma. This enabled officers to score the quality and service elements of
their submission, assessing their method of approach to delivering the service.
Page 7

9.

Based on the evaluation of the tenders received, the 4 (four) bids have been
ranked in order of economic advantage to the Council. The most advantageous
supplier, which achieved the highest overall combined score, is recommended
for the award of the contract.

RISK ASSESSMENT
10. Many of the usual and identifiable risks initially present in this type of project
have been negated through the Council's rigorous and structured procurement
process.
11. All suppliers have under gone all of the checks associated in order to be part of
the ESPO framework agreement (No. ESPO 115) for the provision of this type
of work/supply.
12. Regular monitoring will take place and a series of project progress meetings will
be held during the course of the implementation to reduce potential risks.
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
13. The works and charges associated with this contract can be financed from
section 106 developer contributions as detailed in the Open Space
Improvement Programme.
CONCLUSION
14. Four valid tenders were received for the improvement works required to be
undertaken at Segensworth Play Area and Stubbington Recreation Ground Play
Area. It is recommended that the most advantageous tender received, ranked
1st in the confidential appendix to this report, be accepted and a contract award
accordingly.
Reference Papers:
September 2014, Leisure and Community Policy Development and Review Panel,
Open Spaces Improvement Programme – Play Areas and other (non-sport)
Recreational Facilities

Page 8

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 9

Agenda Item 8(2)

Report to the Executive for Decision
7 September 2015
Portfolio:

Leisure and Community

Subject:

Award of Contract –Support Services for Community and
Voluntary Services, Fareham

Report of:

Director of Community

Strategy/Policy:

Leisure Strategy

Corporate Objective:

Strong and inclusive Communities

Purpose:
This report considers the tenders that have been received for the provision of a
support service to assist the community and voluntary sector in the Borough of
Fareham.

Executive summary:
Fareham Borough Council provides funding to support and maintain a vibrant
community and voluntary sector in the Borough. The Council recognises the
importance of well-supported, effective community and voluntary activities and how
these encourage residents to lead a full and active life.
Following a report to the Executive in March of this year, a number of options were
suggested for providing targeted support and assistance to the local community
groups and organisations in Fareham.
The Executive approved the option to tender the service and seek expressions of
interest from community and voluntary sector organisations to operate the service.
Interested parties were invited to explain how they planned to run the service, whilst
exploring new emerging collaboration opportunities and working to promote greater
efficiency.
In total, six tenders were received and four were evaluated by officers and the Panel
of three members from the Leisure & Community Policy Development & Review
Panel.
This report provides the Executive with information regarding the tenders received
and seeks approval to award the contract.

Page 11

Recommendation/Recommended Option:
That the tender submitted by the contractor ranked in 1st place (as set out in the
confidential appendix), being the most advantageous tender received, be accepted
and the contract awarded to the organisation.

Reason:
In order to sustain the varied range of local community and voluntary groups in the
Borough, the Council has provided a resource to assist the Council in supporting a
robust and active, community and voluntary sector in the Borough.

Cost of proposals:
The cost of the service is to be met from the Council’s Community Development
budget and is the subject of this Executive award decision. Should there be any
additional costs related to decommissioning the existing provider, this will be funded
from existing budgets. At this stage it is unclear whether there will be any issues
associated with the commencement of the new arrangements.

Appendices:

A: Executive briefing paper detailing tender prices and
evaluation results (Exempt from publication by virtue of
paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local
Government Act 1972.)

Reference papers:

2 March 2015, Report of the Executive - Proposed
Funding Arrangements for Community Action Fareham
(CAF) - 2015-16

Page 12

Executive Briefing Paper
Date:

7 September 20015

Subject:
Briefing by:

Award of Contract –Support Services for Community and Voluntary
Services, Fareham
Director of Community

Portfolio:

Leisure and Community

INTRODUCTION
1.

Fareham Borough Council provides funding to support and maintain a vibrant
community and voluntary sector in the Borough. The Council recognises the
importance of well-supported, effective community and voluntary activities. It is
well documented how these informal opportunities meet local need and
encourage residents to have full, active lives, as well as establishing a stronger
connection to their local area.

2.

Traditionally such support activity has been provided by Councils for Voluntary
Service or CVS as they are more commonly known. CVSs work for the benefit
of local residents, community groups or organisations and they offer support to
a range of community organisations across a raft of issues. This includes the
provision of services and activities to meet the recreational and social needs of
local residents, either as individuals, through volunteering opportunities or
through working as part of a group or organisation that may be involved with
community activities.

3.

In the past, local CVSs have been funded jointly by both the District Council
and the County Council. However, in light of the significant changes made by
Hampshire County Council (HCC) in relation to its funding priorities, the focus
for funding the voluntary and community sector has moved away from
traditional priorities. Instead focus is now very service specific (i.e. supporting
the work of Adult Services and Children’s Services) which is not the
responsibility of the local borough council.

4.

As such, Fareham Borough Council has been very clear that its priorities
should remain focussed on the needs identified among the community sector in
Fareham. These have been recognised through a county-wide consultation
undertaken in partnership with each of the eleven Borough and District
Councils and their respective local communities. The issues identified in terms
of what support is most needed within the voluntary sector have been used to
determine the best use of the resources. Therefore a set of local priorities,
referred to as the ‘Big 3’ have been established which support the priorities that
local voluntary and community groups most require in the Borough of Fareham.
Page 13

5.

Following a report to the Executive in March of this year, Members identified
that they wished to maintain a strong focus on support for generic community
and voluntary sector organisations. A number of options were suggested for
providing targeted support and assistance to the local community in Fareham
and the Executive approved the option to tender the service.

6.

Through the Council’s Procurement Portal, interested parties were invited to
detail how they planned to run the service, and also how they proposed to
explore new emerging collaboration opportunities and ways of working which
promote greater efficiency.

7.

An invitation to tender for this project was issued on the 18 May 2015 via the
South East Business Portal. This was an open tender to voluntary and
community sector organisations and as well as being used to establish interest,
the tender was also used to determine an accurate cost for providing support
services to the community and voluntary sector.
PROPOSAL

8.

On the 3 July 2015 six tenders were received and opened by Democratic
Services and the Council’s Procurement Officer. The tender price details are
presented in the confidential Appendix A.
EVALUATION PROCESS

9.

The contract documents defined a pre-determined scoring mechanism whereby
tenders are assessed on best quality of service, best value for money and the
proposed service being suggested.

10. Two of the six tenders did not meet the requirements as defined in the
specification and therefore were not evaluated.
11. The remaining four tender submissions were evaluated and the scores
weighted as specified in the invitation to tender. The scores and ranking for all
four tenders received are represented in the confidential appendix A.
12. Tenderers were required to complete a ‘Tenderers Compliance and Response’
pro-forma. This enabled officers to score the quality and service elements of
their submission, assessing their method of approach to delivering the service.
13. Based on the evaluation of the tenders received, four bids have been ranked in
order of economic advantage to the Council.
14. The shortlisted tenders were further evaluated by an Officer and Member
Evaluation Panel made up of 3 elected members from the Leisure &
Community Policy Development & Review Panel (Councillors Mrs C L A
Hockley (Chairman), Mrs K K Trott and Mrs S Pankhurst).
15. The four organisations were then invited to make a formal presentation to an
Officer and Member Panel. As well as scrutinising the detail of the proposed
service, those organisations shortlisted were also given a scenario to consider
and respond to through a formal presentation.
16. Following this process, each organisation was scored on a number of key areas
Page 14

as detailed in the tender documentation. The most advantageous supplier,
which achieved the highest overall combined score, is now recommended for
the award of the contract.
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
17. The costs associated with this contract will be financed from the Council’s
Community Development budget for which sufficient provision has been
allocated.
CONCLUSION
18. Having followed the Council’s Contract Standing Orders and implemented a
stringent procurement process, from an initial six tenders; four valid tenders
were taken forward for further evaluation. The four tenders were considered
and reviewed by an Evaluation Panel, consisting of elected members and
officers.
19. Following a presentation and a formal scoring process, it is recommended that
the most advantageous tender received, ranked 1st in the confidential appendix
to this report, be accepted. It is proposed that subject to satisfactory
references, a contract is awarded to the successful organisation for the
provision of support services to the community and voluntary sector in
Fareham.

Page 15

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 17

Agenda Item 9(1)

Report to the Executive for Decision
7 September 2015
Portfolio:

Planning and Development

Subject:

Fareham Borough Non-Residential Parking Standards
Supplementary Planning Document: for Adoption

Report of:

Director of Planning and Development

Strategy/Policy:

Local Plan: Adopted Core Strategy (August 2011) & Local
Plan Part 2: Development Sites and Policies (June 2015)
Adopted Version & Local Plan Part 3: Welborne Plan
(June 2015) Adopted Version.

Corporate Objective:

Protect and Enhance the Environment
Maintain and Extend Prosperity

Purpose:
To approve the revised Fareham Borough Non-Residential Parking Standards
Supplementary Planning Document for Adoption.

Executive summary:
This report describes the background and rationale for the production of a revised
Fareham Borough Non-Residential Parking Standards Supplementary Planning
Document (SPD) for Adoption. The SPD sets out guidance for developers and
other interested parties on the levels of parking expected in non-residential
developments within the Borough.
The need for new parking standards has arisen due to Hampshire County Council’s
decision to withdraw its Parking Strategy and Standards (2002), which has
previously been used as guidance on parking standards for relevant developments
in the Borough.
The Council has used this opportunity to review local experience in the application
of these standards and consider current local and national planning policies in order
to issue updated guidance that will also apply to major development proposals such
as Welborne and Solent Enterprise Zone at Daedalus.
The SPD explains the background to developing the new guidance and includes
tables containing the parking standards to be applied for non-residential
development in the Borough. This document will complement the guidance for
residential developments given in the Residential Car & Cycle Parking Standards
SPD (Fareham Local Development Framework) issued by Fareham Borough
Council in November 2009.

Page 19

Recommendations:
(a) That the Executive notes the consultation comments received on the Draft
Fareham Borough Non-Residential Parking Standards Supplementary Parking
Document and agreed the proposed Council responses set out in Appendix A.
(b)

That the Executive agrees to adopt the proposed Fareham Borough NonResidential Parking Standards Supplementary Parking Document as set out in
Appendix B.

(c)

That subject to the adoption of new parking non-residential parking standards,
the Executive agrees to the revocation of the policy to continue to use the
Hampshire County Council Parking Strategy and Standards (2002) as the
basis for guidance for an interim period.

Reason:
The Council has used the opportunity afforded by Hampshire County Council’s
decision to withdraw its Parking Strategy and Standards (2002) to issue new
guidance on parking standards for non-residential developments in the Borough, to
ensure that development proposals have due regard to the importance of providing
appropriate well-designed parking that satisfies the principles of transport
sustainability.

Cost of proposals:
There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.

Appendices:

A: Summary of Comments Received and Proposed
Council Responses to the Consultation
B: Fareham Borough Non-Residential Parking Standards
Supplementary Planning Document (for Adoption)

Background papers: None

Page 20

Executive Briefing Paper
Date:

7 September 2015

Subject:
Briefing by:

Fareham Borough Non-Residential Parking Standards
Supplementary Planning Document: for Adoption
Director of Planning and Development

Portfolio:

Planning and Development

INTRODUCTION
1.

This report describes the background and rationale for the production of
Fareham Borough Non-Residential Parking Standards Supplementary
Document (for Adoption), setting out guidance for developers and other
parties on the levels of parking expected in non-residential developments
Borough.

2.

An earlier version of the Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) - Draft for
Consultation - was considered by the Planning and Development Planning and
Development Policy Development Review Panel at the Meeting on 19 May 2015.
Following approval from the Planning and Development PDR Panel a draft SPD was
issued for Public Consultation for a period commencing on 26 June 2015 for six weeks
until Monday 3 August 2015.

3.

The proposed responses to comments received during the Public Consultation have
been reflected within the revised version of the SPD document. Comments received
during the Consultation period and the proposed Council responses are set out in
Appendix A. The revised SPD (for Adoption) document is attached as Appendix B.

4.

The requirement to review current non-residential parking standards has arisen as a
result of Hampshire County Council’s (HCC) decision to withdraw its Parking Strategy
and Standards (2002), which had previously been used as guidance on parking
standards for relevant developments in the Borough.

5.

The Council has used this opportunity to review recent local experiences in the
application of these standards and consider current local and national planning policies
in order to issue updated guidance that will also apply to major development proposals
such as Welborne and Solent Enterprise Zone at Daedalus.

6.

The adopted version of this SPD will complement the guidance for residential
developments given in the “Residential Car & Cycle Parking Standards Supplementary
Planning Document (Fareham Local Development Framework)” issued by Fareham
Borough Council in November 2009.

Page 21

a revised
Planning
interested
within the

7.

At the Planning Committee Meeting on 23 April 2014 it was resolved that until new
parking standards can be issued, the HCC Non-Residential Parking Standards would
continue to be used as the basis for guidance on developments in the Borough.
SCOPE

8.

The Fareham Borough Non-Residential Parking Standards SPD (for Adoption) has
been prepared to ensure that all new non-residential development in the Borough has
due regard to the importance of providing appropriate, well-designed parking that
satisfies the principles of transport sustainability.

9.

The SPD represents an important material consideration in the determination of
planning applications. It provides further guidance on adopted Policies in the Borough’s
Local Plan. Once adopted, it will replace the Hampshire Parking Strategy and
Standards (2002) document that was withdrawn in April 2014.

10. The provision of parking standards for different land uses is important in influencing
travel choices. It is also vital to ensure that otherwise well-planned development does
not adversely affect the operation, aesthetic, and safety of, or access to, the highway.
This SPD sets out a revised strategy for parking provision in all forms of non-residential
development in the Borough including mixed-use developments.
11. The SPD applies to all development sites in the Borough including Welborne and Solent
Enterprise Zone at Daedalus. Parking standards are defined for individual use class
types, including spatial requirements for cars, cycles, motor-cycles (powered twowheelers), disabled users and operational parking, loading or unloading.
APPROACH TO THE DERIVATION OF NEW STANDARDS
12. In March 2015 the Government issued a Planning Update which included
supplementary guidance on the provision of car parking spaces to that contained in the
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). In particular, the Planning Update states
that “Local planning authorities should only impose local parking standards for
residential and non-residential development where there is clear and compelling
justification that it is necessary to manage their local road network”.
13. The evidence available from case studies where parking standards have been applied
to non-residential development in the Borough demonstrates conclusively that there is a
sound case for providing relevant guidance on the spatial requirements for car and
cycle parking. For example, inadequate levels of parking provision have led to overspillage of parked vehicles on the road network surrounding a development site.
14. Issuing guidance should therefore contribute positively to the planning of developments,
and this SPD sets out a revised strategy for parking provision in all forms of nonresidential development in the Borough including mixed-use developments.
15. The review of previous planning applications showed that in some cases inappropriate
parking provision has led to the under- or over-provision of parking spaces, resulting in
various problems as developments have come into use, including the occurrence of
overspill parking on the surrounding roads. It was also apparent that the previous
standards have been interpreted as either ‘maximum’ or ‘minimum’ figures, potentially
leading to an inappropriate quantum of parking spaces for the development.
16. It was also realised from the experience of case studies that where parking is a material
consideration, it is important to specify a standard that represents the type and location
Page 22

of development and as far as practicable gives a robust provision over the full life-cycle
of the development.
17. There was also the need for a more detailed resolution of Use Classes than that given
in the 2002 publication, particularly within the Retail classification, to differentiate
between the different types of development proposals across the Borough.
18. A principal conclusion from the review of case studies was that the HCC 2002 maximum
parking standards could generally be applied as ‘required’ figures, with an appropriate
reduction in the Town Centre and scope for flexibility as supported by a Transport
Assessment or Travel Plan submitted as part of a planning application.
19. The need for flexibility within a defined set of requirements is also seen as critical to
ensuring that the guidance included in the SPD document remains applicable in the
future commensurate with possible intensification of use and other changes in land use
patterns.
20. In certain circumstances planning permission is not required to change between
different non-residential uses. In such cases the Council has no control over whether
such schemes have adequate parking provided. Therefore, when considering the
parking standards for a particular use type, the Council will also need to be mindful of
which uses can be permitted without a future planning application.
21.

The preparation of the new SPD has also been informed by an assessment of the
standards documents issued by other adjoining local authorities. Where new guidance
has been issued this is typically based upon the HCC Parking Standards (2002), in
some cases retained as maximum standards for motor vehicles, adopted as a single
standard across the Borough or District and amended to reflect local experience and
following the consultation exercise on the Draft SPD.
LOCAL AND NATIONAL POLICY CONTEXT

22. The relevant policy guidance within the Local Plan is Core Strategy Policy CS17: High
Quality Design, which states that development will be designed to: “Provide appropriate
parking for intended uses taking account of the accessibility and context of a
development and tackling climate change.”
23. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out Government planning policies
that must be taken into account in the preparation of Local Plans and is a material
consideration in planning decisions. The revised Parking Standards should be prepared
in accordance with the policy context set out in the NPPF.
24. Chapter 4 of the NPPF states that “All developments which generate significant
amounts of movement should be required to provide a Travel Plan” (Paragraph 36). It
also provides guidance on setting parking standards:
“If setting local parking standards for…non-residential development, local planning
authorities should take into account:







The accessibility of the development;
The type, mix and use of development;
The availability of and opportunities for public transport;
Local car ownership levels; and
An overall need to reduce the use of high-emission vehicles”. (Paragraph 39)
Page 23

25. Additional guidance in a Planning Update from Government dated March 2015 states
that “Local planning authorities should only impose local parking standards for
residential and non-residential development where there is a clear and compelling
justification that is necessary to manage their local road network.”
26. It was concluded from the review of previous planning applications referred to in the
paragraphs above that the issuance of guidance on parking standards for nonresidential developments would be beneficial in providing developers and project
promoters with a consistent framework for bringing forward proposals. The guidance
also allows flexibility to modify the recommended figures where necessary to reflect
particular local conditions, justified by details submitted in a Transport Assessment or
equivalent supporting documentation as part of a planning application.
27. For larger developments it will be necessary to assess the requirements for operational
parking space through submission of a Design and Access Statement and/or
Management Operations Plan.
Fareham Town Centre
28. The application of parking standards to sites in Fareham Town Centre will need to take
account of their distinct characteristics, the specific spatial requirements and viability of
the proposed development.
29. In comparative terms this location benefits from the availability of public off-street
parking spaces and better access to rail and bus services. It can therefore be expected
that these amenities would lead to lower levels of parking demand at individual sites
with a consequential reduction in appropriate parking standards for these sites,
particularly for retail-related planning applications.
30. This SPD (for Adoption) recommends that where spaces are required, then in certain
locations and when appropriate to the development consideration should be given to
providing parking areas through the implementation of underground or undercroft
solutions.
Other Local and District Centres (excluding Welborne)
31.

Although other centres in the Borough are less well-connected in terms of public
transport, generally there are off-street parking spaces available and these facilities may
provide opportunities for departures from standards in the consideration of parking
provision for development site proposals. This would be expected to apply particularly to
planning applications related to the retail use class.
Welborne

32. For parking standards applicable to employment areas within Welborne, the Fareham
Borough Non-Residential Parking Standards SPD needs to be applied in conjunction
with the Welborne Design Guidance Supplementary Planning Document.
The
Executive has previously approved a draft of the Welborne Design Guidance SPD for
consultation and a final version for Adoption will shortly be presented to the Executive
for their consideration and approval.
33. The emerging Welborne Design Guidance SPD recommends the establishment of a
clear strategy for the relationship between employment and residential areas of
Welborne. The relative location of these areas may contribute positively towards a
reduction in the overall requirement for parking provision.
Page 24

34. The emerging Welborne Design Guidance SPD states that car parking within all centres
should be provided in accordance with Fareham Borough Non-Residential Parking
Standards SPD, ensuring that the parking areas are convenient, well-enclosed by
adjacent buildings and connecting directly to key areas of the public realm. The
emerging Welborne Design Guidance SPD also states that proposals for multi-level car
parking should demonstrate that the facilities will complement the area’s public realm.
Solent Enterprise Zone at Daedalus
35. Major development proposals in the Borough being brought forward in 2015 and
subsequent years include Solent Enterprise Zone at Daedalus.
36. The scale of development may provide an opportunity for the sharing of parking spaces
across adjacent sites, with the possibility that land allocated for parking can
accommodate greater demand in the future associated with intensification of use, or
otherwise reallocated to more sustainable uses.
DESCRIPTION OF NEW PARKING STANDARDS
37. Parking standards for each Use Class type and sub-type to be applied to new
developments are defined in tables contained within the SPD document (for Adoption)
attached as Appendix B.
38. For the avoidance of doubt, each standard should be interpreted as a ‘requirement’
rather than a maximum or minimum figure, with permitted variations where these can be
supported by evidence contained within a Transport Assessment or other compelling
evidence.
39. Provided the quantum of parking space meets the overall requirement in larger
developments then consideration can be given to a departure from standards if there is
a clear benefit in doing so. A balance will need to be struck between unnecessarily
partitioning individual site requirements and ensuring that overall provision is
appropriate to the proposed development and its location.
Use Classes
40. The standards are categorised by the following Use Classes, with sub-type descriptions
given in the tables in the SPD document:


Retail (A1-A2)



Food and Drink (A3-A5)



Commercial (B1-B8)



Hotels, Assembly and Leisure (C1, D2)



Health Establishments (C2, D1)



Care Establishments (C2, D1)



Educational Establishments (C2, D1)



Other Uses (Sui Generis)

41. The parking standards defined in the Fareham Borough Non-Residential Parking
Standards SPD (for Adoption) are for Use Class sub-types that relate to planning
applications received by Fareham Borough Council.
Page 25

42. It should be noted that the proposals for educational establishments are consistent with
the standards set out in the document entitled “On-Site School Parking Guidelines”
(April 2013) from Hampshire County Council. This document updates the guidance
given in the County Council’s (now withdrawn) 2002 Standards, and is based on a
sample audit of school sites across Hampshire which gave a better understanding of
travel patterns.
Parking Space Requirements - Operational
43. Total spatial requirements for a particular land use can generally be represented as the
combination of operational and non-operational needs.
44. Operational needs will include parking for vehicles directly associated with servicing,
essential maintenance, deliveries and storage, together with space for set-down and
loading. For example, in the case of Health and Care establishments this will include
areas which enable ambulances and mini-buses to operate efficiently.
Parking Space Requirements – Non-Operational
45. Parking for non-operational needs will include spaces for staff, visitors and customers to
park their vehicles. In the case of Educational establishments it may also be necessary
to consider requirements for student parking spaces.
46. These requirements are sub-divided as follows:


Regular parking spaces



Disabled parking spaces (typically 6% of total spaces located in the most
accessible areas)



Motorcycle parking (also referred to as ‘Powered Two Wheelers’)



Cycle stands

47. The provision of cycle facilities is key to the objective of promoting the use of
sustainable modes, and due consideration should be given to appropriate provision for
secure, covered storage and showers that encourage cycling. For major developments
these details will be included in a Travel Plan, and higher provision than the cycle
standards presented in this document may be relevant, particularly where
complementary measures are confirmed as part of an infrastructure delivery package.
Parking Standard Tables
48. Table 1 of Part B of the SPD document (Appendix B) sets out the car and car parking
standards and operational parking space standards by Use Class type and sub-type.
Standards are defined in terms of units representing the land use for the premises
involved, for example total gross floor area (gfa), number of staff employed, seats or
bedrooms.
49. The required standards given in Table 1 of the SPD document (Appendix B) represent
the recommended figures for each Use Class type and parking category. However,
where there is compelling evidence to depart from these standards it will be necessary
to submit a Transport Assessment, Travel Plan or other supporting documentation as
part of a Planning Application.
50. For development sites within town, district or local centres with higher levels of public
parking and accessibility to public transport, consideration should be given to an
Page 26

appropriate reduction in the required vehicle parking standards.
SUSTAINABILITY
51. Under the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 (the
Regulations), Councils must carry out a Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) of
land-use and spatial plans (including supplementary planning documents). However,
where the Council can demonstrate that any land-use or spatial plan is unlikely to have
significant environmental effects (Regulation 9(3)), a SEA will not be required.
52. In principle, supplementary planning documents should not be subject to the SEA
Directive or require sustainability appraisal because they do not normally introduce new
policies or proposals or modify planning documents which have already been subject to
sustainability appraisal. However, a supplementary planning document may
occasionally be found likely to give rise to significant effects which have not been
formally assessed in the context of a higher-level planning document.
53. In order to determine whether this supplementary planning document is likely to have a
significant effect on the environment, and hence require a SEA, the Council undertook a
screening process against a specified set of criteria. The results of the screening
process indicated that a SEA is not required to be undertaken for this SPD, and both
Natural England and Historic England (the successor body to English Heritage) have
confirmed that they do not consider that the SPD should be subject to a SEA.
CONSULTATION
54. The main consultation exercise took place over a 6-week period commencing on 22
June 2015 and ending on 3 August. All individuals and organisations listed on the
Council’s Local Plans database were informed of the consultation with an opportunity to
submit comments on the document. The document and consultation details were also
published on the Council’s website and comments received via the ‘Have your Say’
page.
55. Following completion of the consultation period, the Council has produced a summary
of the comments made, together with the proposed Council response to them, and
identifying where relevant proposed revisions to the SPD should be made (see
Appendix A). The final “for Adoption” version of the SPD does not have to undergo
external examination and can be formally adopted by the Executive.
RISK ASSESSMENT
56. There are no significant risk considerations in relation to this report.
CONCLUSIONS
57. The withdrawal of Hampshire County Council’s Parking Strategy and Standards (2002)
in April 2014 has led to the need to consider appropriate guidance for non-residential
parking standards in the Borough. The guidance for residential developments given in
the “Residential Car & Cycle Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document
(Fareham Local Development Framework)” issued by Fareham Borough Council in
November 2009 is unaffected by this change and continue to be applicable.
58. A recent Planning Statement issued by Government has further clarified the
interpretation of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and recommended
that local parking standards for residential and non-residential development only be
Page 27

imposed where there this a compelling justification required to manage the local road
network. It is considered that providing guidance on standards would be beneficial in
order to enable viable and sustainable developments to be brought forward and ensure
consistency in parking provision across the Borough.
59. A review of case studies drawn from recent planning applications has informed the
preparation of new parking standards, in particular where difficulties have been
experienced in the definition of Use Classes and as a result of intensification of use at
specific sites.
60. It was concluded from this review that it would be appropriate for the HCC 2002
maximum figures to form the basis for specifying revised parking standards. These
would be specified as ‘required’ standards recommended for all developments within
each Use Class type category, but with exceptions permitted including reduced levels of
parking for retail developments in Fareham Town Centre characterised by the
availability of public off-street parking spaces and better access to rail and bus services.
The guidance would also provide scope for departures from standards in cases where
these can be supported by a Transport Assessment, Transport Statement or Travel
Plan.
61. A consultation exercise has been carried out over a 6-week period starting on 22 June
2015, and a summary of comments together with proposed Council responses and
changes to the SPD (for Adoption) is presented in Appendix A.
62. The proposed parking standards given in the SPD Document (for Adoption), attached
as Appendix B, apply to both operational and non-operational space requirements of
development. Non-operational requirements comprise regular car, disabled and
motorcycle parking spaces and cycle stands.
APPENDICES
Appendix A:

Summary of Consultation Comments Received on Draft Fareham Borough
Non-Residential Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document
and Proposed Council Responses

Appendix B:

Fareham Borough Non-Residential Parking Standards Supplementary
Planning Document (for Adoption)

Page 28

APPENDIX A
No

Consultation Comments Received

Proposed Council Response
and SPD Amendment

1

I have looked at the consultation document mainly from my
interest in it in relation to any future development which we
may want to carry out at West End Chapel, St. Annes
Grove, Fareham. I am not sure where in the various use
classes mentioned a Chapel or church comes. I assumed it
was sui generis, but they do not seem to be included in your
sui generis examples?

2

It was good to have the opportunity to review council Comments
noted
and
documentation written in sensible plain English which is amendments required.
understandable
rather
than
being
in
legalistic
gobbledegook. All matters raised and promoted for further
council discussion and approval are supported by my wife
and self.

3

Hampshire Chamber of Commerce Broadly supportive of The need for flexibility in the
new parking standards, but with exceptions:
application
standards
is
highlighted in the SPD, including
1. Greater emphasis on the need for greater flexibility consideration of future levels of
in special circumstances – not a ‘one size fits all’ activity and changes of use.
approach. Examples of educational establishments
are quoted which are characterised by considerable With regard to food retail, the
numbers of non-teaching staff, and the difficulty in Council recognises the different
requirements applicable to local
estimating future staffing levels.
and
out-of-town
2. More guidance on what constitutes these special stores
circumstances (Ref NPPF para 10) and how it would developments, and will consider
each case on its merits - as at
be applied in practice.
3. Review standard for ‘Food Retail’ Use Class type by present – taking account of
assessing the demand for existing convenience evidence submitted in support of
stores – quotes example of different requirements proposals.
for an out-of town Tesco Extra compared with a local
An example has been added to
centre Tesco Express.
4. Full and integrated linkage between provision of car Part B of the SPD illustrating the
parking spaces for both residential and non- application of standards to a
residential developments with active and ongoing mixed-use development with both
residential/business travel plan policies and residential and non-residential
implementation to balance the requirements for car elements.
parking with greater encouragement of non-car
based travel provisions.
The SPD fails to address the problem of businesses using The objective of the SPD is to
Fareham Borough Council car parks for their benefit against ensure as far as possible that

4

The parking standards defined in
the SPD are for the most relevant
Use Class types relating to
planning applications received by
the Council. Additional wording
has been included in Section A5
of the document for proposed
developments that do not fall into
Proposes wording which would recognise that applications one of the categories listed in
for additional buildings on a site should not, as a matter of Table 1 of Part B, referring back
course, require additional car parking to be provided while to the assessment factors
the same use continues (i.e. church/community use), but identified in the NPPF.
that everything should depend on the nature of the
‘extension’. Thus, it would be reasonable to require more Each case will be considered on
parking where the main meeting room (‘sanctuary’) is to be its merits with details requested
extended to accommodate a greater number of of the proposed developments, in
worshippers, but it would not be a requirement to increase particular the type of uses, which
the number of available car parking places where the could be addressed via a
permitted ‘extension’ was e.g. as a separate ‘sports hall’ or Planning Condition or Legal
secondary meeting room.
Agreement.

Page 29

no

those of the people of the Borough. I am particularly
concerned with a car sales firm who consistently use
Wallington car park for the holding of their over stocked
premises.

non-residential
developments
provide an adequate level of
parking to meet operational
needs.
The Council’s Parking Services
team are monitoring usage of the
Wallington/Broadcut Car Park to
identify options for increasing the
availability of spaces.

5

Historic England I confirm that Historic England has no
comments to make on the new standards. I also confirm
that we do not consider that the SPD need to be subject to a
Strategic Environmental Assessment.

6

Natural England We agree with your conclusion that the Comments noted in respect of
SPD is unlikely to require an SEA.
there being no requirement for a
Strategic
Environmental
I would like to mention that any new car parks within the Assessment.
vicinity (400m) of the Solent and Southampton Water
Special Protection Area (SPA) and Portsmouth Harbour This SPD applies specifically to
SPA, could lead to increased recreation on the SPA and so non-residential development that
will need to be assessed on a case by case basis as they in normal circumstances would
come forward. We therefore advise that this issue is not lead to higher recreational
use.
incorporated into the SPD.

7

Comments received via the “Have Your Say” page on
the Council’s website – a total of 19 respondents
including The Fareham Society:

8

Comments noted in respect of
there being no requirement for a
Strategic
Environmental
Assessment.

A common theme - mentioned by 5 respondents - is the
need to provide more dedicated parking and/or better
access to facilities for disabled drivers (for example, at
educational establishments).

The requirements of disabled
drivers are represented in the
SPD through guidance on the
provision of dedicated spaces in
development proposals, and
parking for mobility scooters
where appropriate.

The Fareham Society The Society is broadly supportive of
this initiative, especially the section designed to overcome
intensification or change of use when further planning
permission is not required. This is currently a serious
problem in the borough with incursion to the Highways from
existing developments. Although a good example re: a
medical practice is given, and despite this, it is believed a
more robust solution should be produced. It is believed that
even if a fuller explanation of the methodology to be used is
provided, which might ensure consistency, this will always
be insufficient to accurately assess future changes.

The Council considers that
sufficient
detail
is
already
included in the SPD to explain
the derivation of new standards,
and is commensurate with the
need to ensure a consistent
approach for all development
proposals.

In an ideal world the policy should state that any future
requirement for additional parking spaces that are not
capable of being provided in the existing development
should require new planning permission.
The Fareham Society is fully supportive of any initiative to
support sustainable transport, and in particular likes the
proposed differentiation in non-residential parking

Page 30

requirements for Town Centre and Local District Centres
versus less urban areas. The new FBC strategy and
standards would benefit from providing a clear methodology
for use in calculating the new standard figures, i.e. how
have the spaces for gross floor area been arrived at?
The greater breakdown of non-residential sectors, plus the
single standard, and not minimum or maximum numbers, is
also welcomed. However, this makes direct comparison with
the previous HCC standards difficult to assess. For
consultation, a summary of the differences should be
provided, or at least a broad overview of whether the new
standards produce fewer or more parking spaces, We also
welcome the section to allow discretion for individual
developments, but this will require more instruction to
ensure consistency across bespoke developments.

Page 31

APPENDIX B

FAREHAM BOROUGH NON-RESIDENTIAL PARKING STANDARDS SUPPLEMENTARY
PLANNING DOCUMENT (FOR ADOPTION)

September 2015
Page 33

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

CONTENTS
Executive Summary
PART A: BACKGROUND AND DEVELOPMENT OF NEW
STANDARDS
A1. Introduction and Scope
A2. Planning Policy Context
A3. Review of Parking Requirements

Page 34

A4. Approach to the Production of New Parking
Standards
A5. Description of New Parking Standards
A6. References
PART B: APPLICATION OF PARKING STANDARDS
B1. Table 1 - Revised Parking Standards

The Fareham Borough Non-Residential Parking Standards
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) (for Adoption) sets out
guidance for developers and other interested parties on the levels
of parking expected in non-residential developments within the
Borough. It defines the space requirement for operational and nonoperational needs of developments in a range of Use Classes.
The requirement to review current non-residential parking standards
has arisen as a result of Hampshire County Council‟s (HCC)
decision to withdraw its Parking Strategy and Standards (2002).
These standards had previously been used as guidance on parking
standards for relevant developments in the Borough.
Fareham Borough Council was advised of HCC‟s intention to
withdraw its standards for non-residential parking in April 2014
following an HCC Executive Decision on 2 April 2013. The Borough
Council has used this opportunity to review recent experiences in
the application of these standards and issue updated guidance.
Part A of the document explains the background to developing
revised parking guidance and a description of the new standards,
whilst Part B contains tables which set out the standards and
examples of how to apply the figures.

B2. Examples of the Applications of Parking Standards
B3. Plan of Fareham Town Centre

The Fareham Borough Non-Residential Parking Standards SPD (for
Adoption) takes account of comments received and responses
elaborated by the Council during a public consultation exercise that
took place in Summer 2015. The Borough Council has also
undertaken a screening process and determined that a Strategic
Environmental Assessment of the SPD was not required.

A1. INTRODUCTION AND SCOPE
The purpose of the Fareham Borough Non-Residential Parking
Standards Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) in Fareham,
including Welborne, is to provide guidance on parking standards for
new development in the Borough. It has been prepared to ensure
that all new non-residential development in the Borough has due
regard to the importance of providing appropriate, well-designed
parking that satisfies the principles of transport sustainability.

Page 35

The Fareham Borough Non-Residential Parking Standards SPD
represents an important material consideration in the determination
of planning applications. It provides further guidance on adopted
Policies in the Borough‟s Local Plan. Once adopted, it will replace
the Hampshire Parking Strategy and Standards (2002) document
that has now been withdrawn.
Rationale for the Production of Parking Standards
The provision of parking standards for different land uses is
important in influencing travel choices. It is also vital to ensure that
otherwise well-planned development does not adversely affect the
operation, aesthetic, and safety of, or access to, the highway.
In March 2015 the Government issued a Planning Update which
included supplementary guidance on the provision of car parking to
that contained in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).
In particular, the Planning Update states that “Local planning
authorities should only impose local parking standards for
residential and non-residential development where there is clear

and compelling justification that it is necessary to manage their local
road network”.
The evidence available from case studies where parking standards
have been applied to non-residential development in the Borough
demonstrates conclusively that there is a sound case for providing
relevant guidance on the spatial requirements for car and cycle
parking. For example, inadequate levels of parking provision have
led to over-spillage of parked vehicles on the road network
surrounding a development site.
Issuing guidance should therefore contribute positively to the
planning of developments, and this SPD sets out a revised strategy
for parking provision in all forms of non-residential development in
the Borough including mixed-use developments.
Objectives of the SPD
The principal objectives associated with developing a revised set of
parking standards for the Borough are as follows:
 To ensure a consistent, transparent approach in assessing
planning applications associated with the development of all nonresidential and mixed-use sites in the Borough.
 To respond to the particular characteristics of town and
neighbourhood centres in the Borough in terms of accessibility to
all modes of transport and restrictions in space availability and
taking into account emerging trends such as mixed-use
developments.
 To recognise that development areas of strategic importance
that are located within the Borough – notably Welborne and
Solent Enterprise Zone at Daedalus – are likely to present
opportunities for the sharing of parking space between adjacent

sites, with drivers responding to future initiatives to provide
higher quality public transport, cycling and walking alternatives
that may lead to a reduction in overall demand for travel by
private car.
 To provide flexibility for future changes in land use with
contrasting requirements for parking facilities – for example, a
change in use class type or intensity of use compared with the
established level of activity.
 To complement and supplement the guidance contained in
current Fareham Borough Council Design SPD documents.

Page 36

It is appreciated that parking provision often requires a compromise
between the need to ensure containment and avoid overspill whilst
encouraging more sustainable travel behaviour such as car-sharing
and alternatives to the private car. For this reason the guidance in
this document may be supplemented by an assessment of the
nature and characteristics of individual sites.
The guidance aims to give businesses the flexibility to ensure that
parking facilities are optimised, particularly in town and, potentially,
other centres where public parking is available, there is generally
better access to public transport or space may be at a premium.
Relationship to Other Planning Documents
A2. PLANNING POLICY CONTEXT
The relationship between the SPD and Local Plan documents for
the Rest of Borough and Welborne is shown on Figure 1.

Car parking can have a major impact on the quality of the urban
environment, in terms of physical impact, functionality, aesthetics
and safety.
The Fareham Borough Non-Residential Parking Standards
Supplementary Planning Document has been prepared taking into
account the planning policy context.

National Planning Policy Framework
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out
Government planning policies that must be taken into account in the
preparation of Local Plans and is a material consideration in
planning decisions. The revised Parking Standards should be
prepared in accordance with the policy context set out in the NPPF.
The NPPF has, as one of its core principles, a requirement for
development to encourage sustainable transport. “Planning
should…actively manage patterns of growth to make fullest
possible use of public transport, walking and cycling, and focus
significant development in locations which can be made more
sustainable” (NPPF Paragraph 17).

Page 37

This emphasis, set out in more detail in Chapter 4 of the NPPF,
seeks to promote sustainable transport. It recognises that “transport
policies have an important role to play in facilitating sustainable
development but also in contributing to wider sustainability and
health objectives”. It states that “the transport system should be
balanced in favour of sustainable transport modes, giving people a
real choice about how they travel” (Paragraph 29).
Chapter 4 of the NPPF goes on to provide more detail, stating that
“All developments which generate significant amounts of movement
should be required to provide a Travel Plan” (Paragraph 36). It also
provides guidance on setting parking standards:
“If setting local parking standards for…non-residential development,
local planning authorities should take into account:
 The accessibility of the development;
 The type, mix and use of development;

 The availability of and opportunities for public transport;
 Local car ownership levels; and
 An overall need to reduce the use of high-emission vehicles”.
(Paragraph 39)
Additional guidance in a Planning Update from Government dated
March 2015 states that “Local planning authorities should only
impose local parking standards for residential and non-residential
development where there is a clear and compelling justification that
is necessary to manage their local road network.”
Planning Practice Guidance
The Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) provides further detailed
guidance on the policies set out in the NPPF. It should be read in
conjunction with the NPPF.
The PPG requires local planning authorities to “seek to ensure
parking provision is appropriate to the needs of the development
and not reduced below a level that could be considered reasonable”
(PPG, Paragraph 008, Reference ID: 42-008-20140306 (Revised
06 03 2014).
It states that “Maximum parking standards can lead to poor quality
development and congested streets” and provides greater freedom
for local planning authorities to set parking standards appropriate to
their areas.
Local Policy Context
The Development Plan for the Borough is made up of 3 parts:
 Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy – provides overarching
guidance and sets development requirements for the Borough.

 Local Plan Part 2: Development Sites and Policies Plan –
provides detailed guidance and allocates sites in the Borough
(excluding Welborne).
 Local Plan Part 3: Welborne Plan – provides detailed guidance
and sets a framework for the delivery of Welborne.
The relevant policy guidance within the Local Plan is Core Strategy
Policy CS17: High Quality Design, which states that development
will be designed to: …
 “Provide appropriate parking for intended uses taking account of
the accessibility and context of a development and tackling
climate change.”
A3. REVIEW OF PARKING REQUIREMENTS

Page 38

Considering NPPF guidance and in response to HCC‟s decision to
withdraw the 2002 Parking Standards, the Borough Council has
taken the opportunity to review recent experience in applying the
existing standards to developments in the Borough and consider
guidance provided by neighbouring authorities.
This has led to the decision by the Council to derive a new set of
parking standards for non-residential developments. The following
sections summarise the background to the development of new
standards which are described in Section A4.
Appraisal of Case Studies
To provide the evidence base for developing new standards, a
number of previous planning applications were reviewed in order to
assess the outcomes of applying the HCC 2002 standards.
Particular attention was given to applications where issues were

raised during the application process in comments made by the
Council‟s highway officer.
In some cases inappropriate parking provision has led to the underor over-provision of parking spaces, resulting in various problems
as developments have come into use. Most critical has been the
occurrence of overspill parking on surrounding roads. It had also
been apparent that the previous parking standards, being set as
„maximum‟ figures, has led to an inappropriate quantum of parking
spaces for the development.
The HCC 2002 standards applied reductions in car parking for
areas with higher levels of accessibility. Although this approach has
proved successful in large urban areas with good levels of public
transport, the application of notional reductions in parking standards
within indicative accessibility zones is less applicable to locations
that are not served by a comprehensive bus and rail network.
It was also realised from the experience of case studies that where
parking is a material consideration, it is important to specify a
standard that represents the type and location of development and,
as far as practicable, gives a robust provision over the full life-cycle
of the development.
There was also the need for a more detailed definition of Use
Classes, particularly within the Retail classification, to differentiate
between the different types of development proposals across the
Borough.

Page 39

Intensification and Changes of Use

Fareham Town Centre

It was evident from the review of case studies that significant
parking problems can arise from the intensification of use
associated with an existing site. For example, there has been a
trend towards a substantial increase in the number of doctors and
other medical staff working at surgeries in recent years without any
expansion to site footprints.

The application of parking standards to sites in Fareham Town
Centre will need to take account of their distinct characteristics, the
specific spatial requirements and the viability of the proposed
development. Fareham Town Centre is delineated in the Local Plan
(Part 2: Development Sites and Policies Plan) with the boundaries
shown in the figure (B3) in Part B.

In certain circumstances planning permission is not required for
changes between different non-residential uses. In such cases, the
Council has no control over whether schemes have adequate
parking provided. Therefore, when considering the parking
standards for a particular use type, the Council will also need to be
mindful of which uses can also be permitted without a future
planning application. Clearly no cognizance can be taken of any
future changes in Government policy.

In comparative terms, this location benefits from the availability of
public off-street parking and better access to rail and bus services.
It can therefore be expected that these amenities would lead to
lower levels of parking demand at individual sites with a
consequential reduction in appropriate parking standards for these
sites, particularly for retail-related developments.

Adjoining Boroughs and Districts
A number of other Local Authorities have responded to HCC‟s
decision to withdraw its 2002 parking standards by issuing their own
guidance. The new guidance on standards is typically based upon
the HCC figures, in some cases amended to reflect local
experience and following a consultation exercise.
Rushmoor Borough Council area located in the north east of the
County includes the Aldershot Urban Extension, a planned
development of 4,500 homes. That Council‟s approach to deriving
new parking standards has informed the approach for Welborne.

It is recommended that where spaces are required, then in certain
locations and when appropriate to the development consideration
should be given to providing parking areas through the
implementation of underground or undercroft solutions.
Other Local and District Centres (excluding Welborne)
Although other centres in the Borough are less well connected in
terms of public transport, generally there are off-street parking
spaces available and these facilities may provide opportunities for
departures from standards in the consideration of parking provision
for development site proposals. This would be expected to apply
particularly to retail development.

Page 40

Welborne

Solent Enterprise Zone at Daedalus

For parking standards applicable to employment areas the
Welborne Design Guidance SPD calls upon the Fareham Borough
Non-Residential Parking Standards SPD.

Major development proposals in the Borough being brought forward
in 2015 and subsequent years include Solent Enterprise Zone at
Daedalus.

The Welborne Design Guiidance SPD recommends the
establishment of a clear strategy for the relationship between
employment and residential areas of Welborne. The relative
location of these areas may contribute positively towards a
reduction in the overall requirement for parking provision.

The scale of development may provide an opportunity for the
sharing of parking spaces across adjacent sites, with the possibility
that land allocated for parking can accommodate greater demand in
the future associated with intensification of use, or otherwise
reallocated to more sustainable uses.

The Welborne Design Guidance SPD states that car parking within
all centres should be provided in accordance with Fareham
Borough Non-Residential Parking Standards SPD, ensuring that the
parking areas are convenient, well-enclosed by adjacent buildings
and connecting directly to key areas in the public realm. This SPD
also states that proposals for multi-level car parking should
demonstrate that the facilities will complement the area‟s public
realm.

A4. APPROACH TO THE PRODUCTION OF NEW PARKING
STANDARDS

School sites should be designed to promote self-containment and
reduce dependency on travel by private car. Co-location with other
community-based facilities may provide opportunities for sharing
parking spaces and supporting public transport investment, which
will include planned extensions of the existing Bus Rapid Transit
network to serve the new community.
To satisfy place-making objectives it will be desirable to avoid
locating large parking areas for schools adjacent to the street
frontage.

It was concluded from the review of case studies that the HCC 2002
maximum figures should form the basis for specifying revised
parking standards. These would be specified as „required‟
standards recommended for all developments within each Use
Class type category, but with exceptions permitted including
reduced levels of parking for developments in Fareham Town
Centre and in other local centres when appropriate. The guidance
would also provide scope for departures from standard figures in
cases where these can be supported by a Transport Assessment,
Transport Statement or comprehensive Travel Plan.
The need for flexibility within a defined set of required standards is
seen as essential for the guidance to ensure that a balance is
achieved between meeting the actual needs for parking space
associated with new development and contributing to relevant
sustainability targets wherever possible. Furthermore, it is desirable
for the SPD document to remain applicable to future scenarios

beyond the date of publication as land use patterns evolve or
existing uses intensify.
Departures from standards may be applicable for sites within
Fareham Town Centre and other local centres to take account of
their distinct characteristics and existing provision of public parking
spaces.
Assessment of Proposals
Particular consideration will be given to the guidance on setting
parking standards contained in the NPPF (Paragraph 39).
Examples of relevant criteria relating to the factors identified by the
NPPF will normally include:

Page 41










The accessibility of the development – including ease of
access to local amenities and existing public parking
spaces.
The type, mix and use of development – the extent to
which mixed uses are complementary in terms of parking
demand by time of day.
The availability of and opportunities for public transport
– access of the development site to good quality public
transport services, such as proximity to a railway station.
Local car ownership levels – relevant data on car
ownership from the Office for National Statistics.
An overall need to reduce the use of high-emission
vehicles – deployment of measures designed to encourage
low or zero emission vehicles, such as installation of electric
vehicle charge points.

Servicing Areas
The standards specified in this SPD include the provision of
designated parking spaces for operational requirements. Where
there are restrictions on space availability, priority should be given
to these requirements over other demands, thus avoiding the need
for essential vehicles to park on unsuitable sections of access roads
or on the adjacent road network.
Other design guidance will apply to the full determination of
servicing areas for new development.
For large development areas and regeneration projects,
consideration should be given to the provision of a single
rationalised servicing area that serves the entire development.
There are examples elsewhere indicating this approach has worked
successfully.
In general terms, servicing areas could include a combination of the
following:
 The number of bays required for deliveries to all business units,
designed to accommodate the size of service vehicles
 Storage and welfare facilities for service area personnel
 Refuse collection from compactors and recycling facilities
 Collect-by-car spaces for anchor stores in retail developments
The design of access roads and on-site layby/turning facilities
should be determined and/or validated using tracking simulation
software. Sufficient space should also be allowed for servicing
vehicles to enter and leave the curtilage of the premises in a
forward gear.

A Management Operations Plan will be required for servicing areas
on major developments to ensure that these areas operate safely
and efficiently and are adequate for incremental build-out phases.

unnecessarily partitioning individual site requirements and ensuring
that overall provision is appropriate to the proposed development
and its location.

Overnight Parking

Use Classes

The requirement for secure overnight parking spaces will need to
be considered in cases where the property owner or tenant
operates a fleet of vehicles from the premises.

The standards are categorised by the following Use Classes, with
sub-type descriptions given in the tables in Part B of this document:

For the relevant planning applications it is assumed that the
applicant will identify the need for overnight parking provision, with
details given in a Management Plan that would form part of a S106
Agreement or planning condition. This will mitigate the practice of
parking commercial vehicles in residential areas overnight.

Page 42

A5. DESCRIPTION OF NEW PARKING STANDARDS
Parking standards for each Use Class type and sub-type to be
applied to new developments are defined in the tables in Part B of
this Fareham Borough Non-Residential Parking Standards SPD (for
Adoption).
For the avoidance of doubt, each standard should be interpreted as
a „requirement‟ rather than a maximum or minimum figure, with
permitted variations where these can be supported by evidence
contained within a Transport Assessment or other compelling
evidence.
Provided the quantum of parking space meets the overall
requirement in larger developments then consideration can be
given to adjusting the individual standards applied if there is a clear
benefit in doing so. A balance will need to be struck between










Retail (A1-A2)
Food and Drink (A3-A5)
Commercial (B1-B8)
Hotels, Assembly and Leisure (C1, D2)
Health Establishments (C2, D1)
Care Establishments (C2, D1)
Educational Establishments (C2, D1)
Other Uses (Sui Generis)

The parking standards defined in this Fareham Borough NonResidential Parking Standards SPD (for Adoption) are for use class
types that relate to planning applications received by the Council.
Proposed developments that do not fall into one of the categories
listed in Table 1 of Part B will be considered on an individual basis
following the general principles set out in this SPD, taking into
account the assessment factors identified in the NPPF as referred
to above in Section A4.
It should be noted that the proposals for educational establishments
replicate and extend the standards set out in the document entitled
“On-Site School Parking Guidelines (April 2013)” from HCC. That
document updates guidance given in the County Council‟s 2002

Standards, and is based on a sample audit of school sites across
Hampshire giving a better understanding of travel patterns.

Educational establishments it may also be necessary to consider
requirements for student parking spaces.

Parking Space Requirements - Operational

These requirements are sub-divided as follows:

Total spatial requirements for parking for a particular land use can
generally be represented as the combination of operational and
non-operational needs.

 Regular car parking spaces
 Disabled parking spaces (typically 6% of total spaces located in
the most accessible areas)
 Cycle parking
 Motorcycle parking (also referred to as „Powered Two Wheelers’)

Operational needs will include parking for vehicles directly
associated with servicing, essential maintenance, deliveries,
collection and storage, together with space for set-down and
loading. For example, in the case of Health and Care
establishments this will include areas which enable ambulances
and mini-buses to operate efficiently.

Page 43

The space or spaces made available should accommodate parking
and turning satisfactorily for the largest vehicle anticipated to attend
the site. For retail outlets, regular deliveries may be made by
articulated lorries which would otherwise be required to park onstreet during periods of unloading.
In Table 1 of Part B of this SPD, vehicle parking for operational
activities excludes the needs of staff employed at the premises
which are included as a Non-Operational requirement. In the event
that there is an additional need to park „pool‟ cars or other vehicles
overnight then this should be identified within the documentation
supporting a planning application.
Parking Space Requirements – Non-Operational
Parking for non-operational needs will include spaces for staff,
visitors and customers to park their vehicles. In the case of

For retail use classes, consideration should be given to the
provision of „parent and child‟ parking spaces appropriate to the
proposed development.
The provision of cycle facilities is key to the objective of promoting
the use of sustainable modes, and due consideration should be
given to appropriate provision for secure, covered storage and
showers that encourage cycling. For major developments these
details will be included in a Travel Plan and higher provision than
the cycle standards presented in this document may be relevant,
particularly where complementary measures are confirmed as part
of an infrastructure delivery package.
The need to provide parking for disability motor scooters should be
considered for care establishments and other developments where
appropriate.
Table of Parking Standards
Table 1 in Part B of this document presents the revised parking
standards, with individual tables (1a to 1h) for each Use Class. The
Use Class types represented in the tables are those most relevant

Page 44

to Fareham Borough, and each table has a common format with 3
sections – Car Parking, Operational Parking Space and Cycle
Parking - as described below.

parking space provides for vehicles essential to the operation of the
business or establishment, such as delivery, maintenance and
emergency vehicles, and excludes normal parking for staff.

For certain Use Class types it will be necessary to take account of
factors local to a development site rather than apply absolute
standard figures. The tables highlight the cases where it will be
necessary to determine an appropriate parking standard through
the preparation of either a Transport Assessment or Travel Plan.

Where applicable, additional space requirements are also defined
for set down and loading areas, for example bus and coach loading
on-site at educational establishments. Only in exceptional
circumstances will turning space not be required within the
development site.

Car Parking Standard (Staff and Visitors, Disabled Spaces)

Cycle and Motor-Cycle Parking Standards (Staff and Visitors)

The requirement is expressed in terms of either space per unit of
gross floor area (gfa), member of staff employed, or alternatively a
measure appropriate to the activity at the premises (for example,
number of bedrooms for hotel developments). For the purposes of
this SPD, “gfa” is defined as „the area of a building measured
externally at each floor level”, which is equivalent to the HCC
Parking Strategy and Standards (2002) definition of gross external
area (GEA).

The requirement is expressed in terms of either cycle space per unit
of gross floor area (gfa), member of staff employed, or other
suitable measure. Where appropriate, separate standards are
given for staff and for other users.

Where possible separate standards for each Use Class type are
given for Staff and Visitor spaces, otherwise both types of parking
are included in a combined standard in the tables.
Guidance on Disabled Spaces is given in Note 1 below each table;
typically this is 6% of total car parking provision or a minimum of
one space for an individual development.
Operational Parking Spaces (Essential Vehicles and Set Down)
The requirement is expressed in terms of either space for an
appropriately-sized vehicle or per unit of gross floor area (gfa). This

Guidance on motor-cycle spaces is given in Note 2 below each
table; typical provision would represent between 1% and 5% of total
car parking spaces, with a minimum of one space for an individual
development.
Interpretation of Standards
The figures given in Table 1 represent the required parking
standards for each Use Class type and parking category. Whilst
these figures are expected to apply in all cases, where there is
compelling evidence to depart from these standards it will be
necessary to submit a transport assessment or other supporting
documentation as part of a planning application, or alternatively to
consider negotiation at the pre-application stage.

For development sites within town, district or local centres with
higher levels of public parking or accessibility to public transport,
consideration will be given to an appropriate reduction in the
required vehicle parking standards.
Examples are given in Part B2 illustrating how the parking
standards would apply to three particular development scenarios.
A6. REFERENCES
National Planning Policy Framework, Department for Communities
and Local Government, 27 March 2012
Planning Update March 2015, Written Statements to Parliament

Page 45

Fareham Local Development Framework Core Strategy DPD,
Fareham Borough Council, Adopted August 2011
Residential Car & Cycle Parking Standards Supplementary
Planning Document (Fareham Local Development Framework),
Fareham Borough Council, November 2009
Planning Policy and Guidance (PPG), DCLG, 6 March 2014
On-Site School Parking Guidelines, Hampshire County Council,
April 2013
Welborne Design Guidance SPD (Consultation Draft), Fareham
Borough Council / LDA Design, June 2014
Guidance on Transport Assessment, Department for Transport,
March 2007

PART B
B1. Table 1 - Revised Parking Standards:
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)
(g)
(h)

Retail (A1-A2)
Food and Drink (A3-A5)
Commercial (B1-B8)
Hotels, Assembly and Leisure (C1, D2)
Health Establishments (C2, D1)
Care Establishments (C2, D1)
Education Establishments (C2, D1)
Other Uses (Sui Generis)

Page 46

B2. Examples of the Application of Parking Standards
B3. Plan of Fareham Town Centre

Table 1a: Revised Parking Standards Spatial Requirements – Retail (A1-A2)
Use Class Type

CAR PARKING STANDARD
(Disabled Spaces – see Note 1)

OPERATIONAL PARKING
SPACE

CYCLE PARKING STANDARD
(Motor-cycle Spaces – see Note 2)

RETAIL
Staff

Customer

Vehicle Parking

Set Down /

(inc. Deliveries)

Loading Areas

Staff

Customer

Page 47

Food or non-food
retail

1 space / 14m² gfa

1 space / 750m²
gfa or usable

n/a

2 spaces (minimum) +
1 space / 350m² gfa

A2 Financial, banks &
professional services

1 space / 20m² gfa

1 space / 3,000m²
gfa or usable

n/a

2 spaces (minimum) +
1 space / 125m² gfa

Garden centres

1 space / 25m² gfa

1 space / 750m²
gfa/usable
(minimum of 3
commercial vehicle
spaces)
Non-food retail
1 space / 30m² gfa
1 space / 750m²
warehouses with
(minimum of 3
garden centres
commercial vehicle
<1,000m²
spaces)
Non-food retail
To be determined by a
To be determined
warehouses with
Transport Assessment or Travel
by a Transport
garden centres
Plan
Assessment or
>1,000m²
Travel Plan
Note 1: Disabled Parking – 6% of total Car Parking spaces (1 space minimum)

n/a

2 spaces (minimum) +
1 space / 300m² gfa

n/a

2 spaces (minimum) +
1 space / 350m² gfa

n/a

2 spaces (minimum) +
1 space / 500m² gfa

Note 2: Motorcycle Parking/Powered Two Wheelers – 1% to 5% of total Car Parking spaces (1 space minimum)

Table 1b: Revised Parking Standards Spatial Requirements – Food and Drink (A3-A5)
Use Class Type

CAR PARKING STANDARD
(Disabled Spaces – see Note 1)

OPERATIONAL PARKING
SPACE

CYCLE PARKING STANDARD
(Motor-cycle Spaces – see Note 2)

FOOD & DRINK
Staff
Eating and drinking
establishments
(including public
houses, cafés and
restaurants)
Take-away hot food
shops

Customer

1 space / 5m² gfa
(dining/bar/dance floor area)

Page 48

1 space / 3
non-res staff +
1 space per
delivery vehicle

Adequate onstreet parking
nearby

Vehicle Parking

Set Down /

(inc. Deliveries)

Loading Areas

1 space / 750m²
gfa or usable

Drop-off
spaces
required within
curtilage

1 commercial
vehicle space

n/a

Staff

Customer

1 space / 7.5m² gfa
(dining/bar/dance floor area)

1 space / 20
staff

Note 1: Disabled Parking – 6% of total Car Parking spaces (1 space minimum)
Note 2: Motorcycle Parking/Powered Two Wheelers – 1% to 5% of total Car Parking spaces (1 space minimum)

1 space / 10
seats

Table 1c: Revised Parking Standards Spatial Requirements – Commercial (B1-B8)
Use Class Type

CAR PARKING STANDARD
(Disabled Spaces – see Note 1)

OPERATIONAL PARKING
SPACE

CYCLE PARKING STANDARD
(Motor-cycle Spaces – see Note 2)

COMMERCIAL
Staff

Visitor

Vehicle Parking

Set Down /

(inc. Deliveries)

Loading Areas

Staff

Visitor

Page 49

B1 (a) Office

1 space / 30m² gfa

1 space / 2,500m²
gfa or usable

n/a

1 space / 200m² gfa

B1 (b) (c) High tech /
light industry
B1 Mix of types (a),
(b), (c)

1 space / 45m² gfa

n/a

1 space / 200m² gfa

1 space / 30-45m² gfa (based on
individual elements)

1 space / 1,000m²
gfa or usable
1 space / 1,000m²
gfa or usable

n/a

1 space / 200m² gfa

Mix unknown eg.
B1/B2, B2/B8
B2 General industry

1 space / 30-60m² gfa (based on
individual elements)
1 space / 45m² gfa

1 space / 1,000m²
gfa or usable
1 space

n/a

1 space / 200m² gfa

n/a

1 space / 500m² gfa

1 space / 500m²
1 space / 1,000m²
(over 1,000 m²)
B8 Distribution
1 space / 120m² gfa (nonTo be determined
centres and
operational area)
on site basis by a
transhipment depots
Transport
Assessment
Note 1: Disabled Parking – 6% of total Car Parking spaces (1 space minimum)

n/a

1 space / 500m² gfa

n/a

1 space / 500m² gfa

B8 Warehouse

1 space / 90m² gfa

Note 2: Motorcycle Parking/Powered Two Wheelers – 1% to 5% of total Car Parking spaces (1 space minimum)

Table 1d: Revised Parking Standards Spatial Requirements – Hotels, Assembly and Leisure (C1, D2)
Use Class Type

CAR PARKING STANDARD
(Disabled Spaces – see Note 1)

ASSEMBLY &
LEISURE
Hotels, motels, guest
houses and boarding
houses
Children’s play
centres

Staff

Guest / Visitor

OPERATIONAL PARKING
SPACE
Vehicle Parking

Set Down /

(inc. Deliveries)

Loading Areas

1 space / member of staff or
guest bedroom + 1 space / 0.3
non-resident members of staff

1 commercial
vehicle space

1 space / 20m² of play area

1 commercial
vehicle space

1 space for
coach loading/
unloading onsite (large
hotels)
n/a

CYCLE PARKING STANDARD
(Motor-cycle Spaces – see Note 2)

Staff

Guest / Visitor

To be determined by a Transport
Assessment or Travel Plan

To be determined by a Transport
Assessment or Travel Plan

Page 50

Note 1: Disabled Parking – 6% of total Car Parking spaces (1 space minimum)
Note 2: Motorcycle Parking/Powered Two Wheelers – 1% to 5% of total Car Parking spaces (1 space minimum)

Table 1e: Revised Parking Standards Spatial Requirements – Health Establishments (C2, D1)
Use Class Type

CAR PARKING STANDARD
(Disabled Spaces – see Note 1)

OPERATIONAL PARKING
SPACE

CYCLE PARKING STANDARD
(Motor-cycle Spaces – see Note 2)

HEALTH
Staff
General and
community hospitals,
private hospitals
Health centres and
clinics

Page 51

Doctors’, dentists’
and veterinary
surgeries

Visitor

2.5 spaces / bed

1 space /
practitioner

1 space /
practitioner

3 spaces /
practitioner + 1
space / 3
ancillary
members of
staff present
3 spaces /
practitioner + 1
space / 3
ancillary
members of
staff present

Vehicle Parking

Set Down /

(inc Deliveries)

Loading Areas

Staff

Essential vehicles
(as required)

n/a

To be determined by a Transport
Assessment or Travel Plan

Essential vehicles
(as required)

n/a

1 space / 3 members of staff
present

Essential vehicles
(as required)

n/a

1 space / 3 members of staff
present

Note 1: Disabled Parking – 6% of total Car Parking spaces (1 space minimum)
Note 2: Motorcycle Parking/Powered Two Wheelers – 1% to 5% of total Car Parking spaces (1 space minimum)

Visitor

Table 1f: Revised Parking Standards Spatial Requirements – Care Establishments (C2, D1)
Use Class Type

CAR PARKING STANDARD
(Disabled Spaces – see Note 1)

OPERATIONAL PARKING
SPACE

CYCLE PARKING STANDARD
(Motor-cycle Spaces – see Note 2)

CARE
Staff

Visitor

Page 52

Vehicle Parking

Set Down /

(inc. Deliveries)

Loading Areas

Space provided
near entrance to
building for minibus, ambulance
Space provided
near entrance to
building for minibus, ambulance

n/a

Day centres for older
people and adults
with learning or
physical disabilities
Homes for children

To be determined on site basis by
a Transport Assessment

1 space /
resident staff +
0.3 space / nonres. staff

0.25 spaces /
resident staff

Residential units for
adults with learning
or physical
disabilities

1 space /
resident staff +
0.3 space / nonres. staff

0.25 spaces /
resident
bedroom

Space provided
near entrance to
building for minibus, ambulance

n/a

Nursing and rest
homes, residential
care homes

1 space /
resident staff +
0.3 space / nonres. staff

0.25 spaces /
resident
bedroom

Space provided
near entrance to
building for minibus, ambulance

n/a

n/a

Staff

Visitor

3 spaces / 10
members of
staff

1 space / 4
clients

1 space / 2
1 space / 8
members of
clients
residential staff
+ 1 space / 7
non-res. staff
1 space / 2
1 space / client
members of
residential staff
+ 1 space / 7
non-res. staff
1 space / 5 members of staff

Note 1: Disabled Parking – 6% of total Car Parking spaces (1 space minimum)
Note 2: Motorcycle Parking/Powered Two Wheelers – 1% to 5% of total Car Parking spaces (1 space minimum)

Table 1g: Revised Parking Standards Spatial Requirements – Educational Establishments (C2, D1)
Use Class Type

CAR PARKING STANDARD
(Disabled Spaces – see Note 1)

OPERATIONAL PARKING
SPACE

CYCLE PARKING STANDARD
(Motor-cycle Spaces – see Note 2)

EDUCATION
Staff

Visitor

Pupil

Page 53

Staff

Pupil

1 space for
bus/coach
loading on-site

1 space / 20
staff (in nonpupil area)

1 space for
bus/coach
loading on-site
1 space for
bus/coach
loading on-site
n/a

1 space / 20
pupils + 1
scooter space /
10 pupils
1 space / 10
pupils

1 space / 20
staff (in nonpupil area)
1 space / 20
1 space / 10
staff (in nonpupils
pupil area)
1 space / 6 members of staff

1 space / teaching staff +
n/a
1 space for mini1 space for
2 spaces / 3 non-teaching
bus & deliveries
bus/coach
staff
loading on-site
1 space /
2
n/a
To be determined on site basis by
teaching staff + spaces
a Transport Assessment
2 spaces / 3
non-teach. staff
Note 1: Disabled Parking – 6% of total Car Parking spaces (1 space minimum)

1 space / 20
1 space / 10
staff (in nonpupils
pupil area)
In accordance with School
Travel Plan

Primary schools,
nursery, infant and
junior schools

1 space / teaching staff +
2 spaces / 3 non-teaching
staff

n/a

Secondary schools
and community
colleges
Sixth form and
further education
colleges
Day nurseries,
playgroups (private)
and crèches
Special schools, day
care centres (nonresidential)
Language schools
(non-residential)

1 space / teaching staff +
n/a
2 spaces / 3 non-teaching
staff
1 space / teaching staff + 2
spaces / 3 non-teaching staff + 1
space / 10 pupils
1 space / 2 full-time
n/a
equivalent staff

Vehicle Parking

Set Down /

(inc Deliveries)

Loading Areas

1 space for minibus & deliveries

1 space for minibus & deliveries
1 space / minibus
& deliveries
1 space for minibus & deliveries

Note 2: Motorcycle Parking/Powered Two Wheelers – 1% to 5% of total Car Parking spaces (1 space minimum)

Table 1h: Revised Parking Standards Spatial Requirements – Other Uses (Sui Generis)
Use Class Type

CAR PARKING STANDARD
(Disabled Spaces – see Note 1)

OPERATIONAL PARKING
SPACE

CYCLE PARKING STANDARD
(Motor-cycle Spaces – see Note 2)

OTHER
Staff
Tyre, exhaust and
windscreen-fitting
centres

Customer

Other

Vehicle Parking

Set Down /

(inc Deliveries)

Loading Areas

Page 54

1 space /
1 space / service
1 commercial
n/a
full-time
bay
vehicle space +
equivalent
20% of gfa
member of
staff
Vehicle servicing
1 space /
3 spaces / service
1 car space or
n/a
and repair and MOT
full-time
bay
commercial vehicle
service stations
equivalent
space / service
member of
bay
staff
Car sales (excluding
1 space /
1 space / 50m² of
1 space for car
n/a
auctions)
full-time
retail area (internal
transporter
equivalent
& external)
member of
staff
Motor-cycle sales
1 space /
1 space / 50m² of
1 commercial
n/a
full-time
retail area (internal
vehicle space
equivalent
& external)
member of
staff
Note 1: Disabled Parking – To be determined by a Transport Assessment or Travel Plan

Staff

Customer

To be determined by a Transport
Assessment or Travel Plan

To be determined by a Transport
Assessment or Travel Plan

To be determined by a Transport
Assessment or Travel Plan

To be determined by a Transport
Assessment or Travel Plan

Note 2: Motorcycle Parking/Powered Two Wheelers – To be determined by a Transport Assessment or Travel Plan

B2. EXAMPLES OF THE APPLICATION OF PARKING STANDARDS
a)

Proposed new convenience store and in a local centre - Public transport accessibility is poor. The development comprises a 1,000m²
gfa shopping unit (gross floor area including external walls). The parking requirement is assessed as follows:
Operational parking (1 space per 750m²)
Non-operational parking space (1 space per 14m²)
Cycle parking (2 spaces + 1 per 350m²)

= spaces for 2 commercial vehicles
= 71 spaces (including 4 disabled spaces) plus 1 motor cycle space
= 5 cycle spaces

TOTAL PROVISION: Space for 2 commercial vehicles + 71 cars + 1 motor cycle + 5 cycles
b)

Proposed B8 warehouse development on an industrial park - Gross floor area 3,500m² on an industrial estate. The site is not directly
accessible by public transport. The parking requirement is assessed as follows:

Page 55

Operational parking (1 space per 1000m²)
Non-operational parking space (1 space per 90m²)
Cycle parking (1 space per 500m²)

= spaces for 4 commercial vehicles
= 39 spaces (including 2 disabled spaces) plus 1 motor cycle space
= 7 cycle spaces

TOTAL PROVISION: Space for 4 commercial vehicles + 39 cars +1 motor cycle + 7 cycles
c)

Proposed mixed-use development of residential dwellings and retail floor space in a local centre - Comprises 500m² gfa retail
space and 15 one-bedroom residential units; public transport is relatively good. Retail car parking standard of 1 space per 14m² revised
to 1 per 20m². The combined parking requirement for retail/commercial and residential* is assessed as follows:
Operational parking (1 space per 750m²)
Non-operational parking space:
Retail/Commercial use (1 space per 20m²)
Residential (1 allocated + 0.75 unallocated per unit)
Cycle parking:
Retail/Commercial use (2 stands + 1 per 350m²)
Residential (1 individual + 1 communal space per unit)

= space for 1 commercial vehicle
= 25 spaces (including 2 disabled spaces) plus 1 motor cycle space
= 15 allocated + 11 unallocated spaces
= 4 cycle spaces for Retail/Commercial use
= 30 cycle spaces

TOTAL PROVISION: Space for 1 commercial vehicle + 51 cars +1 motor cycle + 34 cycles
*Residential Car and Cycle Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document, Fareham Borough Council, November 2009.

B3. PLAN OF FAREHAM TOWN CENTRE

Page 56

Agenda Item 10(1)

Report to the Executive for Decision
7 September 2015
Portfolio:

Policy and Resources

Subject:

Annual Review of the Corporate Strategy 2011-2017

Report of:

Director of Finance and Resources

Strategy/Policy:

Corporate Strategy 2011-2017

Corporate Objective:

All Corporate Objectives Apply

Purpose:
The Council’s performance management framework requires the Executive to undertake an
annual review of the corporate vision and priorities. The purpose is to confirm future
priorities and to update the wording where necessary. The outcome of the review will
influence the budgets and local service agreements for the next financial year.

Executive summary:
The Corporate Strategy provides a clear focus on the most important issues that need to
be addressed for 2011 – 2017. This annual review is an opportunity to consider the
progress being made in delivering the corporate priorities and to assess the impact of any
other influences on the Council’s services and initiatives.

Recommendation/Recommended Option:
That the Executive recommends to Council the amendments to the strategy document, as
set out in paragraph 9 of this report, along with any other amendments arising from the
review.
Reason:
To meet the requirements of the Council’s performance management framework.
Cost of proposals:
The financial implications of amending any of the Council’s priorities would need to be
calculated and reflected in the Council’s medium term financial strategy.

Appendix A:

Corporate Strategy 2011 - 2017

Background papers: Annual Audit Letter Year ending 31 March 2014, Ernst & Young LLP,
30 October 2014

Page 57

Audit Results Report for the year ended 31 March 2014, Ernst &
Young LLP, 22 September 2014

Page 58

Executive Briefing Paper
Date:

7 September 2015

Subject:

Annual Review of the Corporate Strategy 2011-2017

Briefing by:

Director of Finance and Resources

Portfolio:

Policy and Resources

INTRODUCTION

1. The Council's performance management framework requires the Executive to undertake
an annual review of the corporate vision and priorities. The purpose is to confirm future
priorities and update the wording where necessary. The outcome of the review will
influence the budgets and local service agreements for the next financial year.
2. This is the fourth review of the Corporate Strategy 2011 -2017, which was adopted by the
Council on 23 June 2011. A copy is attached as Appendix A.
3. Any changes proposed to the wording will need to be approved by the Council, because
the Corporate Strategy comes within the Council’s policy framework under the
Constitution.
ISSUES FOR CONSIDERATION

Progress in delivering corporate priorities
4. The Strategy contains a number of Corporate Priorities for improvement. Progress on
each item is listed below.
Affecting all Priorities
 The Welborne Plan was been adopted by the Council, on 8 June, following
examination by an independent planning inspector.
Protect and Enhance the Environment
 An electric vehicle charge point was installed in Civic Way’s North car park, as part of
the roll out of charge points across the County. Up to two cars can make use of this
facility at one time, with charging taking as little as thirty minutes.
 The Council was successful in retaining the Green Flag awards at the Sensory Garden
in Fareham town centre and Holly Hill Woodland Park for the 6 th and 7th consecutive
years respectively. It is also the 11th consecutive year that the Council has received
the Gold Award at the South and South East in bloom awards.
 The Council’s recycling rate has continued to reflect regional and national trends and
now stands at 35%. This is a drop of 0.5% compared to 2013/14, but still the 3 rd
Page 59

highest rate in Hampshire. The Council is working with Project Integra, a partnership
of all Hampshire waste collection and disposal authorities, to improve recycling rates
throughout the county.
Maintain and Extend Prosperity
 The Council has taken ownership of the land at Daedalus, which is comprised of the
airfield and the East/West Enterprise Zone development areas.
 £1.5m of runway improvement works, at Daedalus, have been completed and
represent an important step to allowing a greater variety of planes to use the airfield.
 The development of the Centre of Excellence in Engineering and Manufacturing
Advanced Skills Training (CEMAST), a new campus for all automotive, engineering
and manufacturing courses at Fareham College, has now been completed with the
first students starting in September 2014. Improvement works, at the Bishopsfield
Road campus, are due to be completed this month.
 The Council officially took control over Fareham Innovation Centre, at Daedalus, on 26
March following the completion of the £5.3m facility.
 The Solent Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) approved a business case, made by
the Council, for the provision of services and infrastructure for Daedalus West. The
Council will invest £4.5m into the site and in return the Solent LEP has agreed that
Business Rate growth will be retained by the Council.
 £90m of government funding for transport infrastructure on the Fareham-Gosport
peninsula has been secured via the Solent Local Enterprise Partnership. The funding
is focused on unlocking the potential of both Welborne and Daedalus as key
development sites within South Hampshire. Works are underway to deliver
improvements to Newgate Lane North, and plans are also in place to re-route
Newgate Lane South and make improvements to the A27, between Station
Roundabout and Segensworth. Approximately £15m of the funding is identified to
contribute towards the cost of improving Junction 10 of the M27.
 The Council have been providing mentoring, for smaller businesses, to help deliver
improvements and growth within Fareham town centre.
 The recession has affected businesses in the town centre, but it is hoped that the new
owners of the Shopping Centre will help deliver improvements to growth and
development in the area.
A Safe and Healthy Place to Live and Work
 The Environmental Health Partnership was successful in winning a Silver Award, in
the ‘delivering through efficiency’ category, at the Improvement and Efficiency (IESE)
Awards. The award recognised the Partnership’s work in reducing costs whilst
improving the quality of service.
Leisure for Health and Fun
 Planning permission has been secured for the construction of a new leisure centre and
sports pitches at Coldeast. Holly Hill leisure centre is due to be opened in the summer
of 2016.
 New skate parks have been installed at Park Lane and Abshot Road, providing
improved leisure facilities for young people.
 The reconstruction of the Salterns Promenade and adjacent cycleway has been
completed, following nearly £230,000 of investment from the Council.
 Refurbishment works have been completed on the cricket pavilion at Bath Lane
Recreation Ground. The dilapidated clubhouse for Fareham and Crofton Cricket Club
has been demolished and a replacement was opened in April.

Page 60

A Balanced Housing Market
 The Development Sites and Policies plan was adopted by the Council, on 8 June,
following examination by an independent planning inspector.
 Collingwood Court has been completed, providing 23 one bedroom and 17 two
bedroom, sheltered housing, apartments. Construction of Sylvan Court, 36 one and
two bedroom set of flats, is currently underway and due to be completed in mid-2016.
 Construction on Stevenson Court, 16 affordable rented one bedroom flats located at
Palmerston Avenue, is underway and is scheduled for completion in early 2016.
 Construction is also underway at Cold East Close, Sarisbury Green, on six two
bedroom rented homes. Being built to the Passivhaus standard these new homes are
expected to be very energy efficient. Once complete, this is scheduled to be in April
2016, these homes will be rented to people on the Council’s Housing Waiting List.
Strong and Inclusive Communities
 The Council has agreed to provide funding for the core work of Fareham Citizens
Advice Bureau (CAB) until 2017/18. An additional £35,000 of funding, for Housing
Debt Advice as well as Budgeting and Council Tax advice, has been agreed for the
current financial year.
 £94,000 of funding has been secured, for the Fareham Park Project, through the ‘Our
Place’ initiative. This funding will be used to review and improve the employment and
training opportunities for young people in the Fareham Park area.
 The Council has changed how Community Action Teams (CATs) work. Most CAT
meetings will now take place when there is a local ‘hot topic’ of interest to residents.
The five CAT areas have been split up into 10 smaller areas, which more closely
reflect the local communities in Fareham. An Engagement Officer post has also been
created to replace the five CAT officer roles, which will allow for more engagement
with residents.
 Engagement with residents via social media continues to grow. Since September
2014, the number of Twitter followers has increased by nearly 470 to approximately
3,500. The amount of people liking the Council’s Facebook page grew by over 650
and we now have nearly 3,800 likes.
 The Council has continued to engage residents with regular consultations. Over 200
residents commented on the design plans for Holly Hill Leisure Centre. This was
followed by a naming exercise in which almost 500 local school pupils voted. There
have been a number of recent consultations related to play area improvements. The
spring saw people comment on the final modifications to both the Welborne Plan and
Development Sites and Policies Plan.
Dynamic, Prudent and Progressive Council
 The Council’s work, with the Vanguard Method, has achieved over £380,000 of ongoing savings; whilst improving services delivered to the residents of the Borough. The
points below highlight some of the key service improvements that have been achieved
to date:
o The time taken to process benefit claims has fallen from 17 days to 10 days and
customers now deal with a single employee.
o The average time to complete a day-to-day repair on a Council property has
fallen from 89 days to 7 days. Tradesmen are now able to access a customer’s
property on the first visit in 96% of cases.
o Within Parking Enforcement there has been a 50% reduction in the number of
challenges received by the Council.
o The new way of working, within Development Management, has seen the
average time taken to process planning applications fall from 56 days to 36
Page 61









days. This includes the statutory consultation period, required on planning
applications.
The savings achieved, with the Vanguard Method, allowed the Council to give
mainstream employees a 4% pay rise in April. This rise re-establishes the gap
between the lowest pay scale and the national minimum wage and also recognises the
work being done by all employees, following a number of years with little or no pay
rise.
The Council received a Certificate of Excellence at the 2015 Improvement and
Efficiency Awards, hosted by IESE, in recognition of the work that has been done with
the Vanguard Method.
The Council Tax collection rate was 98.61% in the 2014/15 financial year, which
compares with a national average of 97.0%.
The Council has invested nearly £5.9m as part of the Commercial Property Investment
Acquisition Strategy. Five properties including 2 Sainsbury’s and a Tesco store have
been acquired. The purchases are generating £432,000 per annum for the council,
representing an initial yield of 7.3%.
The Council’s efficiency plan remains on track and achieved savings of £804,000,
during 2014/15.

The changing face of Local Government
5. Following the General Election, in May, the UK has its first Conservative Government for
nearly 20 years. The policies outlined in the July Summer Budget present a number of
challenges for local government to tackle over the next five years.
6. The Government have announced the introduction of a National Living Wage of over £9
an hour by 2020. From April 2016 the Minimum Wage, for over 25s, will be £7.20 with
further increases over the next several years to achieve the 2020 goal. The increases to
wages will put additional pressure on the Council, by eliminating the gap between the
Minimum Wage and the lowest rates of pay. Analysis of the Council’s current pay scales
shows that every point below the start of a LG3 is currently below the 2020 target.
7. The Government is aiming to run at a surplus in the 2019/20 financial year. The precise
details of cuts are due to be announced in November, but this goal means that there are
likely to be further cuts within local government for the foreseeable future.
8. Reforms of the welfare system, including the roll-out of Universal Credit, will result in
significant changes to the system and potentially increase the pressure on services
delivered by the Council. There are also proposals to reduce rents for social housing by
1% a year for 4 years, which will reduce the rental income collected by the Council.
9. Public sector pay rises have been set at 1% for 4 years from the start of next year. This
cap on pay rises will limit the pressure on the Council’s budget, but may cause problems
with retaining and recruiting employees, because there is no such cap within the private
sector.
10. The Cities and Local Government Devolution Bill is currently being considered by
Parliament. The Bill outlines the Government’s plans for devolution to councils across
England and Wales. There is the potential for Fareham Borough Council to form part of a
combined authority, similar to what has happened in Manchester and Cornwall. Work is
underway to develop a proposal for a combined authority across the whole of Hampshire,
but what powers will be devolved has yet to be agreed with the Government.

Page 62

Any matters arising from reviews and/or inspections
11. The most recent figure available, estimating the population of Fareham, remains the mid2013 estimates from the Office for National Statistics. The population of the Borough is
currently estimated to be 113,600.
12. The Office of the Surveillance Commissioners looked at the Council’s RIPA structure and
management arrangements and concluded that these were in good health and that the
Council had made sensible use of these powers. A single recommendation was made
and action taken, with a revised policy being approved by the Executive in February 2015.
13. The Welborne Plan and Development Sites & Policies Plan have both been accepted by
the Planning Inspectorate. Both plans were adopted at a meeting of the Council on 8 June
2015.
14. The Annual Review Letter from the Local Government Ombudsman set out the number of
complaints received and decided during the financial year 2014/15. During 2014/15 the
Local Government Ombudsman received and made decisions on eight complaints. There
was a single case, where the complaint was upheld against the Council, which related to
a housing complaint. The findings and recommendation from the Local Government
Ombudsman were accepted, including a small remedy payment.
Annual Audit
15. The Council’s external auditors, Ernst & Young, annual audit letter and annual
governance report provide an overall assessment of the Council. Both documents cover
the Council’s accounts for the year ended 31 March 2014.
16. The Council was overall found to have made appropriate arrangements to ensure the
efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources.
17. The assessment for the 2014/15 financial year is expected to be presented to the Audit
and Governance Committee later this year.
Any matter arising from consultation with local residents, partners or interested
bodies
18. There was no Residents’ Survey this year, so there are no matters arising from this.
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
19. The financial implications of delivering the Council’s priorities have been recognised
within the budget planning process. Any significant changes to the Corporate Strategy
2011 – 2017 will need a financial appraisal to identify resources.
PROPOSALS
20. Overall, the Corporate Strategy remains on track and it is proposed that the Executive
recommends that the council approves the following minor changes to the Corporate
Strategy document. Appendix A, attached to this report, includes a copy of the Corporate
Strategy that incorporates these changes.

Page 63
















Update the population of the Borough, from 112,800 to 113,600, to reflect the most up
to date estimates available (Profile of Fareham, page 3).
Amend the details regarding the investment, in provision of new swimming pool, to
£9m based on the actual costs for the development of the leisure centre (Profile of
Fareham, page 4).
Amend the third paragraph to reflect the changes that have been made to Community
Action Teams (Profile of Fareham, page 4).
“Listening to residents’ views is essential to the Council and helps in the delivery of
better services. Community Action Team (CAT) meetings take place when there is a
local ‘hot topic’ of interest to residents. There are 10 CAT areas based upon each of
the local communities in Fareham. An online Customer Engagement Panel has also
been formed to help the Council be open and transparent; whilst also helping
customers to better understand its business.”
Amend the paragraph about the priority to maintain and extend prosperity to say (Our
Priorities, page 6).
“To maintain and extend prosperity by working with others to continue to support
and promote the economic vitality of the Borough. Developing and improving vibrant
town and district centres offering a range of shopping, leisure and employment
opportunities, together with the delivery of an employment-led vision for Daedalus will
be vital to achieving this priority.”
Amend priorities 4a and 4b to reflect the developments at Daedalus over the past year
(Our Priorities for Improvement, page 8).
“4a) Develop a vision for Daedalus, to explain how the Council’s land-holding will be
used to deliver employment opportunities, community benefits and hangar space,
supported by a viable airfield.
4b) Work with the Solent Local Enterprise Partnership and partners to deliver a
thriving aviation-led employment area at the Solent Enterprise Zone at Daedalus.”
Merge priorities 8a and 8b to create a combined priority 8 (Our Priorities for
Improvement, page 9).
“8) Development of land at Coldeast with the construction of a new leisure centre and
provision of new community facilities including sports pitches, parkland, play area and
a cemetery.)
Re-number priority 11 to 11a (Our Priorities for Improvement, page 9).
Create a new priority 11b (Our Priorities for Improvement, page 9).
“11b) Bring forward proposals for affordable housing development through the new
local housing company.”
Remove paragraph discussing the Sustainable Community Strategy, because there is
no longer a requirement to have this, following the implementation of the Deregulation
Act 2015 (Strategic Framework, page 10).
Amend the Strategic Framework diagram to reflect the removal of the Sustainable
Community Strategy (Strategic Framework, page 12).

CONCLUSION
21. This report is a key stage in the Council’s performance management framework. The
Executive is invited to report the Corporate Strategy 2011 – 2017 so that the Council’s
priorities can be reflected in the budgets and local service agreements for the next
financial year.

Reference Papers: None

Page 64

Fareham
The prosperous, safe and attractive place to be

Corporate Strategy 2011-2017


Page 65

1

Corporate Strategy 2011–2017
Welcome to our corporate strategy for Fareham
Borough Council. This document sets out our
strategic priorities for 2011 to 2017 and
emphasises our determination and commitment
to ensure that Fareham remains a prosperous,
safe and attractive place to live and work.
The Corporate strategy was adopted in 2011
and carefully considers what residents, service
users, partners and others say is important to
them. We have looked at our performance and
service delivery to see how it compares with
other similar Councils.

2

Over the period of the strategy we will face
unprecedented reductions in available
resources. We will need to ensure that these
resources are directed towards our declared
priorities and we will continue to use feedback
from residents and from surveys to inform our
decisions about which services and initiatives
are the most important.
This strategy contains a reduced number of
priorities that will provide a clear focus on the
most important issues that need to be
addressed by the Council over the life of the
strategy.

Page 66

Profile of Fareham
Fareham is located in an area of some 30
square miles along the south coast of
Hampshire between Portsmouth and
Southampton. It is well connected to the M27
motorway, has good rail links to London and
other major centres and easy access to the
ferry ports and Southampton international
airport. The population of Fareham, currently
113,600, is expected to grow by 5.4%, between
2011 and 2031, with a growing number in the
population aged 45 or more. Black and minority
ethnic groups make up a small proportion of the
population in comparison to the rest of the
south east region. Development at Welborne, a
new community to the north of Fareham, is
planned to start in 2016 comprising of around
6,000 homes, commercial buildings and
community facilities. Considerable effort will be
required to ensure that the appropriate
infrastructure is provided to support a
sustainable community whilst maintaining a
balance between the natural and built
environments.

Fareham is a thriving business area with low
unemployment. Many of Fareham’s businesses
are of local origin with a high survival rate from
start-up. The growth in jobs at Whiteley,
Segensworth and the Solent Business Park has
reduced the number of residents commuting to
work elsewhere. The proportion of Fareham’s
working age population that are in work is
higher than both the regional and national rates
and the average annual salary for a full time
worker living in Fareham is significantly higher
than national average earnings.

Fareham is a safe and healthy place compared
to many other parts of the country. The total
number of recorded crimes in Fareham has
been falling in recent years. Based upon the
number of crimes recorded, Fareham’s
Community Safety Partnership is in the top
quartile when compared to other similar
authorities. The health of people living in
Fareham is generally good when compared to
other areas. Life expectancy is higher than the
national average for men and women and over
Fareham is a popular and attractive place to live the last 10 years, the rate of death from all
and has a good record regarding environmental causes, and early death rates from cancer and
sustainability. Within Fareham’s boundaries
from heart disease and stroke, have all fallen
there are 6 nationally important sites of special and remain lower than the national average.
scientific interest, 92 sites of importance for
Deprivation levels across the Borough are
nature conservation and 4 nature reserves.
generally very low, but there are pockets of
The Borough has many historic buildings, 13
deprivation where unemployment is much
conservation areas, nearly 600 listed buildings higher and educational achievement is much
plus 7 historic parks and gardens of regional or lower when compared to other parts of the
local importance. Residents have said
Borough.
consistently in national and local surveys that
they are satisfied with the local area as a place
to live.

Page 67

3

The Council continues to invest in new leisure
facilities approving funding of £9m for the
provision of a new swimming pool at Coldeast,
investing £1.5m in the refurbishment of
Fareham Leisure Centre and funding
improvements to a wide range of sports pitches
and tennis courts throughout the Borough. The
Council funded a new £2m community centre in
Portchester and has a programme for
refreshing and upgrading the 45 play areas
across the Borough; whilst continuing to support
a wide range of cultural and entertainment
activities at Ferneham Hall and Westbury
Manor.
On the whole, Fareham’s residents are well
housed; with 9 out of 10 houses being owner
occupied which is the highest in the region and
fourth highest in England. In contrast, the
proportion of social and private rented housing
is very low. The housing stock generally is in
good condition with few properties needing
major repairs or lacking standard amenities and
it is also energy efficient. Average house prices
are significantly higher than for neighbouring
local authorities in south east Hampshire, but
lower than in Hampshire as a whole. First-time
buyers in Fareham struggle to get into the
housing market as the ratio between average
house prices and earnings is significantly higher
than the level for other areas in south east
Hampshire.
4

Listening to residents’ views is essential to the
Council and helps in the delivery of better
services. Community Action Team (CAT)
meetings take place when there is a local ‘hot
topic’ of interest to residents. There are 10 CAT
areas based upon each of the local
communities in Fareham. An online Customer
Engagement Panel has also been formed to
help the Council be open and transparent;
whilst also helping customers to better
understand its business.
The Council is considered to manage its
resources well, has good leadership, a flexible
and adaptable workforce and a strong
awareness of its financial position. The Council
has frozen its proportion of the Council Tax for
the past seven years.
Surveys show that residents are satisfied with
the way the Council runs things and that it
provides good value for money. It performs well
and is good at keeping Fareham as an
attractive and prosperous place to live, work
and visit.

Page 68

Our Vision

Our Values

Fareham is a ‘prosperous, safe and attractive
place to live and work’. This has not happened
by accident but by careful management and
development, and constant attention to our
environment and the needs of our communities.
Our vision for Fareham’s future is based upon
the assumption that residents want to preserve
all that is good about Fareham, whilst
increasing prosperity and making it an even
more inclusive and attractive place to live and
work.

Everything we do is guided by a set of values
which are shared by all elected members and
employees. These are:


Listening and being responsive to our
customers.



Recognising and protecting the identity of
existing settlements.



Enhancing prosperity and conserving all
that is good.



Being efficient and effective and providing
value for money.



Leading our communities and achieving
beneficial change.

Page 69

5

Our Priorities
To achieve this vision we will focus our efforts
and resources on achieving seven corporate
priorities. These are:







6

To protect and enhance the
environment by ensuring that Fareham
remains a clean and attractive place to live
and work. We will make sure that the built
heritage and natural environment are
conserved and enhanced for future
generations and ensure that we minimise
the impact on the environment by reducing
our use of natural resources; minimising
the generation of waste; whilst maximising
the collection of recyclable materials. The
key challenge in the foreseeable future will
be to plan the development of Welborne, a 
new sustainable community to the north of
Fareham.
To maintain and extend prosperity by
working with others to continue to support
and promote the economic vitality of the
Borough. Developing and improving
vibrant town and district centres offering a
range of shopping, leisure and
employment opportunities, together with
the delivery of an employment-led vision
for Daedalus will be vital to achieving this
priority.



To ensure that Fareham remains a safe
and healthy place to live and work by
working with others to provide an
environment where people of all ages feel
safe. We will also ensure that measures
are in place to protect the health and
safety of people who live, work or visit the
Borough.

Page 70

To provide a reasonable range of leisure
opportunities for health and fun so that
residents and visitors of all ages can
socialise with other members of our
communities; participate in arts and
entertainment activities; and improve their
fitness and health.
To work with our key partners to enable
and support a balanced housing market
so that residents of Fareham have access
to good quality housing that is affordable,
within their means and offers a choice of
tenures. We will also take positive steps
to prevent homelessness and assist
individuals and families in securing good
quality accommodation. We will support
vulnerable people to help them access
and sustain housing that is appropriate to
their need and provide existing and future
tenants of the Council with access to
suitable and affordable rented
accommodation.



To build strong and inclusive
communities by providing strategic
leadership to help bring together key
partners and encourage them to improve
services and provide opportunities for
residents of the Borough. We will also
give people greater influence and power
over the decisions that affect their lives
and build more inclusive communities by
providing easy and affordable access to
information and services provided by the
Council.



Page 71

To be a dynamic, prudent and
progressive council by making sure that
the decisions we make are transparent
and that arrangements are in place to
secure on-going improvement. Our overall
priority is to ensure that we offer good
value for money by providing high quality
services and maintaining high levels of
resident satisfaction, whilst keeping
council tax levels low when compared to
other district councils.

7

Our Priorities for Improvement
Corporate Priorities
The following paragraphs describe the
improvement actions that we will aim to achieve
by 2017. They are organised around the seven Protect and Enhance the Environment
corporate priorities, except the first action,
2) Reduce the quantity of household waste
which will have a direct impact on each priority.
and maximise the amount that is reused or
recycled.
Detailed action plans showing the key
milestones and targets for the year ahead will
be developed on an annual basis as part of the
service and financial planning process. These
plans will be based on the resources that are
available at the time and will be incorporated
into service plans.
Priorities for improvement will be reviewed
annually and progress will be monitored
regularly.

Affecting All Priorities
1)

3a) Provide leadership to residents and
businesses in the borough to reduce
energy usage, conserve natural resources
and save money.
3b) The Council will set an example by
continuing to reduce carbon emissions
across Council operations.
3c) The Council will seek to improve Public
Transport and encourage the provision of
cycle and walkways so residents have a
real choice in the way they wish to travel.

Plan for the development of Welborne, a
new sustainable community to the north of
Maintain and Extend Prosperity
Fareham which achieves high
environmental and design standards and
4a) Develop a vision for Daedalus, to explain
provides a wide range of transport
how the Council’s land-holding will be
choices.
used to deliver employment opportunities,
community benefits and hangar space,
supported by a viable airfield.
4b) Work with the Solent Local Enterprise
Partnership and partners to deliver a
thriving aviation-led employment area at
the Solent Enterprise Zone at Daedalus.

8

5)

Further improve Fareham town centre to
provide enhanced shopping and public
facilities, with improved access and
parking.

6)

Work to support economic growth and
improved skills through the Partnership for
Urban South Hampshire (PUSH) and the
Solent Local Enterprise Partnership.

Page 72

A Safe and Healthy Place to Live and Work

Strong and Inclusive Communities

7)

13) Improve the wellbeing of people living in
the Fareham Park area.

Work with our Community Safety
Partnership to continue to reduce antisocial behaviour and crime in Fareham.

14) Focus on customer needs and satisfaction
through improved communications and
targeted service delivery.
Dynamic, Prudent and Progressive Council
16) Maximise the value gained from assets
that are owned by the Council, including
the acquisition of commercial property.

Leisure for Health and Fun
8)

9)

Development of land at Coldeast with the
construction of a new swimming pool and
provision of new community facilities
including sports pitches, parkland, play
area and a cemetery.

17) Saving money, raising income and
working in partnership with others to
achieve more for less and continue to
minimise council tax increases.
18) Using the Vanguard Method, undertake a
programme of reviews to improve
customer service, across the Council.

Implement the findings of our review of
community centres and sports pavilions
and modernise buildings as appropriate
giving priority to Fareham Town.

10) Develop new and improved parks, play
areas and sports facilities using
developers’ contributions and external
funding.
A Balanced Housing Market
11a) Enable the provision of 500 new affordable
homes by 2017.
11b) Bring forward proposals for affordable
housing development through the new
local housing company.
12) Modernise and improve sheltered
accommodation across the Borough.

Page 73

9

Strategic Framework
The strategic framework (set out in the diagram 
on the back cover) describes the links between
the key financial and planning documents which
cascade down through the Council.
The Council’s Corporate Strategy sets out our
vision and priorities for the medium-term (i.e. six 
years). It also includes a set of improvement
actions that describe the key projects and
initiatives that we will focus on over this period.

Other strategies and plans that relate to
specific themes (e.g. housing, economic
development and leisure etc.) also link into
the sustainable community and corporate
strategies.
The Medium Term Financial Strategy
and Annual Budget, which address the
financial implications of all the Council’s
strategies and plans.

A range of other key Council strategies and
The corporate strategy and other strategies and
plans also link into the framework. They include: plans are supported by local service
agreements that bring together and describe

The Local Plan – including the Core
the key activities and actions that will be
Strategy which sets out the policies that
delivered by individual service areas within the
will determine future land use to meet the Council over the short-term (i.e. three years).
needs of the sustainable community and
They also include a range of measures that
corporate strategies.
demonstrate the degree of success of the
Council in meeting customer expectations.

10

Page 74

Further Information and Contacts
You can view Fareham Borough Council’s corporate strategy at:
http://www.fareham.gov.uk/pdf/about_the_council/vision.pdf
If you have any questions regarding this document, please contact a member of the Corporate
Services Team at:
Tel:

01329 236100

Email:

corporateservices@fareham.gov.uk

Address: Corporate Services
Fareham Borough Council
Civic Offices
Civic Way
Fareham
PO16 7AZ
You can also contact us on Facebook www.facebook.com/
farehambc or Twitter www.twitter.com/farehambc

Page 75

11

Strategic Framework

Corporate Strategy

Local Plan
(Core Strategy)
Theme Strategies
e.g. Housing/
Ecomonic Development/
Leisure

Medium-term Vision and
Priorities

Local Service Agreements
Short-term Activities and
Actions Delivered by
Individual Services

Individual Staff / Team
Objectives
Agreed at Individual
Performance Management
meetings

Fareham Borough Council
12

Civic Offices, Civic Way, Fareham
7AZ
Page PO16
76

Medium-term
Financial Strategy

Annual Budget

Agenda Item 10(2)

Report to the Executive for Decision
7 September 2015
Portfolio:

Policy and Resources

Subject:

Local Service Agreements

Report of:

Director of Finance and Resources

Strategy/Policy:

Corporate Strategy 2011-2017

Corporate Objective:

All Corporate Objectives Apply

Purpose:
To provide an overview of the Council’s performance for the 2014/15 financial year.

Executive summary:
The Council’s strategic framework includes Local Service Agreements to provide details of
actions delivered by individual services. The Local Service Agreements provide an
overview of how the Council is performing alongside the Corporate Strategy. This annual
review is an opportunity to consider how well the Council is performing as a whole as well
as in key service areas.

Recommendation:
That the Council’s performance be noted by the Executive.

Reason:
To provide details of Fareham Borough Council’s performance for the 2014/15 financial
year.

Cost of proposals:
There are no cost implications associated with the recommendations in this report.

Appendix A:

Local Service Agreements April 2012 – March 2016

Background papers:

None

Page 77

Executive Briefing Paper
Date:

7 September 2015

Subject:

Local Service Agreements

Briefing by:

Director of Finance and Resources

Portfolio:

Policy and Resources

INTRODUCTION
1. The Council’s strategic framework includes Local Service Agreements to provide details
of the actions delivered by individual services. The Local Service Agreements provide an
overview of how the Council is performing alongside the Corporate Strategy. This report is
the third update since the Local Service Agreements were implemented in 2012.
2. On the whole performance across all of the indicators is comparable with previous years,
which suggests that the Council’s performance is stable. There have been some
significant improvements in those areas where Vanguard Interventions have taken place.
3. Appendix A is a copy of the Local Service Agreement document updated with all of the
details for the 2014/15 financial year.
NEW MEASURES
4. The Vanguard Method focuses on using measures that are customer focused. In the case
of Building Services this has resulted in changes to the measures they use and report in
the Local Service Agreements. The points below outline the new measures that have
been put in place.
a. How often does the Council attend housing repair appointments when we say we
will?
b. How long does it take the Council to make a housing repair?
5. The new measures better reflect what customers require from the housing repairs service
i.e. the Council arrives up when we say we will and completes the repair as quickly as
possible.
6. As the roll-out of the Vanguard Method progresses there may be further changes to the
measures that Council services use. Any changes that affect the Local Service
Agreements will be reported back to the Executive.
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
7. There are no anticipated financial implications associated with this report.

Page 78

CONSULTATIONS
8. The Local Service Agreements make reference to the Residents’ Survey. The survey is
carried out biennially and the Local Service Agreements were updated last year to reflect
the most recent survey, which was completed in October 2013.
CONCLUSION
9. Council performance across all of the Local Service Agreements is broadly comparable
with previous years and consistently remains strong.
Reference Papers: Corporate Strategy 2011 - 2017

Page 79


Local Service
Agreements
How are we doing?
Performance from
April 2014 to March 2015

Fareham Borough Council

Page | 1

Civic Offices, Civic Way, Fareham PO16 7AZ
Page 81

What are Local Service Agreements?
This document provides an overview of how the Council is performing and provides more detail
about the Council’s Vision and Priorities as set out in the Corporate Strategy.

What are the priorities?


To Protect and Enhance the Environment



To Maintain and Extend Prosperity



To ensure Fareham remains a Safe and Healthy Place to Live and Work



To provide a range of Leisure and Cultural Opportunities for health and fun



To work with key partners to enable and support a Balanced Housing Market



To build Strong and Inclusive Communities



To be a Dynamic, Prudent and Progressive Council

Why do we have Local Service Agreements?
Each priority has a number of measurements that allow the Council to monitor how well it is
performing from year-to-year. The information allows the Council to make sure it remains on track
in achieving its goals; whilst also providing an opportunity to tackle any issues that right arise.
The Local Service Agreements also provide a way for the Council to be open and transparent, by
making its performance available to the residents of the Borough.

What’s new?
Welborne, the new community north of Fareham, continues to play an important role in all of the
priorities. Welborne will include around 6,000 homes with businesses, schools, open spaces and
local services. Welborne will help to meet our long term housing needs for the next twenty years,
with work likely to begin around 2016.

Page | 2


Page 82

Protecting and Enhancing our Environment
Managing the coast and responding to
climate change

What is this priority about?

We need to look after our historic buildings and 
natural environment for future generations.
Producing less waste, more recycling and using 
fewer natural resources are all things we can do 
to help make this happen.


What do we aim to achieve?
The improvement actions that we aim to
achieve by 2017 are to:

Keeping the beaches clean.
Looking after coastal and flood defences.
Preparing for and adapting to a changing
climate.
Helping residents to improve home energy
efficiency.

Enabling easy access to well managed
public and open spaces



reduce the quantity of household waste

and maximise the amount that is reused or
recycled;



provide leadership to residents and
businesses in the Borough to reduce
energy, conserve natural resources and
save money.



Providing and maintaining parks, open
spaces, woodlands and allotments for
your enjoyment.
Mowing the grass.

What else are we doing?
Planning the future shape of the Borough


Preparing plans that guide the future use
and development of land within the
Borough.

Ensuring high quality development


Providing planning advice to applicants
seeking to undertake development in the
Borough.



Ensuring planning applications meet the
Council's policies.

Improving local air quality and ensuring
land is free from contamination

Conserving and improving public spaces



Protecting historic buildings and areas,
trees and wildlife areas.

Improving air quality through the local air
quality action plan.



Continuously monitoring air quality.




Undertaking environmental improvements 
in public spaces.


Investigating land for contamination.
Ensuring local businesses do not pollute
the environment.

Page | 3


Page 83

Keeping streets and open spaces clean and
tidy


Cleaning the streets.



Providing litter bins.



Removing abandoned vehicles.



Fining people for littering, dog fouling and
fly tipping.



Providing clean toilets for public use.



Removing graffiti.

2.

How happy are you with each of the
following?
Household waste (refuse) collection

Very happy
46%

Very happy

Very
unhappy
7%

49%

Fairly
happy
42%

Fairly
unhappy
7%

Very
unhappy
2%

Garden waste collection



Maintaining cemeteries.



Arranging burials and working in
partnership to run Portchester
Crematorium.

Very happy
43%

Collecting waste

Fairly
happy
42%

Fairly
unhappy
11%

Very
unhappy
4%

Recycling sites e.g. bottle banks

Collecting household, garden, health care
waste and recyclable materials.

Very happy
37%



Providing assisted collections for
households in need.



Providing chargeable collections for bulky
household waste, trade waste and
commercial recycling.

Fairly
happy
47%

Very happy
38%

Fairly
happy
52%

Your answers to our 2013 Residents' Survey
helped to give a snap-shot of public satisfaction
with various council services.
How happy are you with the parks and
open spaces in your local area?

Very happy

Fairly
happy

Fairly
unhappy

Very
unhappy

37%

55%

7%

1%

Fairly
unhappy
11%

Very
unhappy
5%

Clothing and textile recycling e.g. blue
banks

How happy are you with our services?

1.

Fairly
unhappy
10%

Household recycling collection

Providing a sympathetic and caring burial
service



Fairly
happy
37%

Page | 4


Page 84

Fairly
unhappy
8%

Very
unhappy
3%

3.

How long does it take to remove abandoned
vehicles?

Thinking about your local area how
happy are you with each of the
following?
Keeping public land clear of litter

Very happy
23%

Fairly
happy
59%

Fairly
unhappy
14%

Very
unhappy
4%

Keeping public land clear of fly tipping
Very happy
31%

Fairly
happy
59%

Fairly
unhappy
8%

Very
unhappy
2%

Keeping public land clear of dog fouling
Very happy

Fairly
happy

Fairly
unhappy

Very
unhappy

16%

54%

21%

9%

In 2014/15, 83% of abandoned vehicles were
removed within 2 working days of the expiry of
the Removal Notice. This is a decrease of 4%
on the previous year.

How long does it take to remove offensive
graffiti from council property?
In 2014/15, 92% of offensive graffiti was
removed from our property within five working
days of any sightings or reports. This is an
increase of 2% on the previous year.

How are we doing?
There are a number of performance measures
that are used to show whether the Council is
delivering its vision. These include:
What percentage of household waste is sent
for reuse, recycling and composting?
In 2014/15, 35% of household waste was sent
for reuse, recycling and composting. This is a
reduction of 0.5% on the previous year.

How long does it take to deal with incidents
of fly-tipping on public land?
In 2014/15, 96% of fly tipped waste on public
land was removed within five working days.
This is an increase of 1% on the previous year.

Page | 5


Page 85

Maintain and Extend Prosperity
What is this priority about?

Improving town and district centres

We will work with our partners to support and
promote the economic life of the Borough.
Developing and improving lively town and
district centres offering a range of shopping,
leisure and employment opportunities will be
vital to achieving this priority.



Planning a district centre for Welborne
and for maintaining the prosperity of
Fareham town centre.



Identifying new sites for business
development.



Carrying out environmental improvements.

What do we aim to achieve?



The improvement actions that we aim to
achieve by 2017 are to:

Working in partnership with the Fareham
Town Centre Management initiative.



Supporting the provision of markets.



Providing a range of off-street parking
choices.



work with partners towards the delivery of
a successful airfield and aviation-led
employment area at Daedalus;



improve Fareham town centre by
providing better shopping, parking,
access and public services;



support economic growth and skills
through the Partnership for Urban
South Hampshire and the Solent Local
Enterprise Partnership.



develop Locks Heath District Centre to
meet the needs of local residents for
shopping, community and leisure
facilities and to complement
neighbouring shopping centres and
Fareham Town Centre.

Meeting transport and mobility needs

What else are we doing?
Enabling employment opportunities


Securing an adequate supply of land for
business development in easy to get to
locations.



Encouraging new businesses and
attracting well-paid jobs to the borough.



Working with partners to enable residents
to improve their workplace skills.



Managing the Council's commercial land
and properties.



Providing travel choices that are
accessible and environment friendly.



Supporting the provision of public and
community transport.

Page | 6


Page 86

How happy are you with our services? How are we doing?
There are a number of performance measures
Your answers to our 2013 Residents' Survey
helped to give a snap-shot of public satisfaction that are used to show whether the Council is
delivering its vision. These include:
with various council services.
1.

What would make you visit your
closest district centre more often?
Please tick the three most important to
you.

More variety of shops

71%

Better quality of shops

53%

Easier parking

37%

More leisure facilities

25%

Better places to eat and drink

23%

Better leisure facilities

18%

Better bus service

16%

Improved public spaces

16%

More cafes/restaurants

13%

More places to eat and drink

13%

What percentage of retail space in Fareham
Town Centre is occupied?
In July 2014, 91% of the shops were occupied,
which represents a 1% increase from 2013.

What percentage of people are claiming
Jobseeker's Allowance?
In April 2015, 0.7% of working age residents in
Fareham were claiming Jobseeker's Allowance.
The average for the South East for this period
was 1.2%.

Page | 7


Page 87

A Safe and Healthy Place to Live and Work
What is this priority about?



We will work with others to continue to provide
an environment where people of all ages feel
safe. We will also ensure that measures are in
place to protect the health and safety of people
who live, work or visit the Borough.



Managing highways, traffic and parking


What do we aim to achieve?


The improvement actions that we aim to
achieve by 2017 are to:


Providing an emergency out-of-hours
service.
Protecting public health and preventing
nuisance.

Work with our Community Safety
Partnership to continue to reduce antisocial behaviour and crime and disorder in
Fareham.

Assisting Hampshire County Council to
manage traffic and keep the highways
safe.
Managing car parks and residents' parking
schemes, applying traffic regulations, and
taking action against parking offences.

What else are we doing?
Reducing crime and disorder




Providing CCTV coverage across the
Borough in partnership with Gosport
Borough Council.
Providing community lighting for the safety
of pedestrians on the public highway,
parks and open spaces.

Protecting the health and safety of people









Controlling pests and preventing the
spread of infectious diseases.
Collecting stray dogs and encouraging
responsible dog ownership.
Controlling the pollution of air, land and
water.
Ensuring businesses comply with food
safety and health and safety legislation.
Licensing and checking of premises,
vehicles and people to ensure activities
are undertaken and provided safely.
Using powers to ensure residents live in
satisfactory housing conditions.
Ensuring public safety and protecting the
community against the consequences of
major incidents.

Promoting good health


Working with Fareham and Gosport
Clinical Commissioning Group to improve
access to health facilities.

Ensuring new and existing buildings are
safe





Ensuring building works comply with
building regulations and safety standards.
Providing residents with pre-application
advice on construction related projects.
Providing a 24 hour emergency response
service for unsafe buildings.
Ensuring the safe demolition of buildings.

Page | 8


Page 88

How happy are you with our services? How are we doing?
There are a number of performance measures
Your answers to our 2013 Residents' Survey
that are used to show whether the Council is
helped to give a snap-shot of public satisfaction
delivering its vision. These include:
with various council services.
Has there been a reduction in the level of
1.
Do you agree or disagree that the
crime and disorder?
police and Fareham Borough Council
are successfully dealing with crime,
anti-social behaviour and neighbour
nuisance?

2.

Strongly
agree

Tend to
agree

Tend to
disagree

Strongly
disagree

37%

55%

7%

1%

In 2014/15, the crime and disorder rate
increased by 3% when compared to the same
period for 2013/14.

How much of a problem are the
following?

Teenagers hanging around in public places
Not a
problem
at all
22%

Not a
very big
problem
62%

A fairly
big
problem
13%

A very
big
problem
2%

People using or dealing in drugs
Not a
problem
at all
52%

Not a
very big
problem
40%

A fairly
big
problem
6%

A very
big
problem
2%

People being drunk or rowdy in public
places
Not a
problem
at all
35%

Not a
very big
problem
54%

A fairly
big
problem
8%

A very
big
problem
2%

Abandoned or burnt out cars
Not a
problem
at all
78%

Not a
very big
problem
21%

A fairly
big
problem
1%

A very
big
problem
0%

How well does the Fareham Community
Safety Partnership’s performance compare
with other similar partnerships in
Hampshire?
In 2014/15, Fareham’s Community Safety
Partnership was ranked 2nd out of the 14
Community Safety Partnerships in Hampshire.

Vandalism, graffiti and other deliberate
damage to property or vehicles

What percentage of places for eating out or
shopping for food have rating of
satisfactory, good or very good (3* or
above)?

Not a
problem
at all
38%

In 2014/15, 95% of businesses were rated
satisfactory, good or very good, an increase of
1% on the previous year.

Not a
very big
problem
53%

A fairly
big
problem
8%

A very
big
problem
1%

Page | 9


Page 89

Provide Leisure and Cultural Opportunities
What is this priority about?
We will provide opportunities for residents and
visitors of all ages to socialise with other
members of our communities; participate in arts
and entertainment activities and improve their
fitness and health.

What do we aim to achieve?
The improvement actions that we aim to
achieve by 2017 are to:


provide community facilities in the
Western Wards including a swimming
pool, cemetery, allotments, parkland and
sports pitches;



modernise community centres and sports services?
pavilions giving priority to Fareham Town;
Your answers to our 2013 Residents' Survey
develop new and improved parks, play
helped to give a snap-shot of public satisfaction
areas and sports facilities.
with various council services.



How happy are you with our

1.

What else are we doing?

How happy are you with each of the
following in your local area?

Providing leisure and cultural opportunities


Providing a balanced programme of arts
and entertainments activities at Ferneham
Hall.



Providing play equipment to meet the
needs of the local community.



Providing swimming, indoor sport and
fitness facilities at Fareham Leisure
Centre.



Children's play areas
Very
happy
24%

Fairly
happy
66%

Fairly
unhappy
8%

Very
unhappy
2%

Community Centres

Providing opportunities for residents and
visitors to the Borough to explore the local
history of the area.

Very
happy
28%

Fairly
happy
63%

Fairly
unhappy
7%

Very
unhappy
2%

Sport facilities including pitches, tennis
courts and bowling greens
Very
happy
18%

Fairly
happy
68%

Page | 10


Page 90

Fairly
unhappy
10%

Very
unhappy
4%

2.

How happy are you with each of the
following?

How many people have watched a
performance at Ferneham Hall?

Fareham Leisure Centre
Very
happy
36%

Fairly
happy
57%

Fairly
unhappy
6%

Very
unhappy
1%

In 2014/15, approximately 66,000 people
watched performances at Ferneham Hall. An
increase of over 8,000 people on the previous
year.

Ferneham Hall
Very
happy
35%

Fairly
happy
59%

Fairly
unhappy
5%

Very
unhappy
1%

Westbury Manor Museum
Very
happy
31%

Fairly
happy
63%

Fairly
unhappy
4%

Very
unhappy
1%

How many people visited Westbury Manor
Museum?
In 2014/15, approximately 18,500 people visited
the Museum, a decrease of 8,000 visitors on
the previous year.

How well are we doing?
There are a number of performance measures
that are used to show whether the Council is
delivering its vision. These include:
What percentage of adults in the Borough
regularly exercise?
In 2014/15, 36.2% of adults in Fareham took
part in sport and active recreation. This is a
1.4% decrease on the previous year.

How many people visited Fareham Leisure
Centre?
In 2014/15, approximately 639,000 people
visited Fareham Leisure Centre, a decrease of
70,000 people on the previous year. This
reduction in attendance was during to the
£1.5m refurbishment works that took place.

Page | 11


Page 91

A Balanced Housing Market
What is this priority about?

Preventing homelessness

We will work with our partners to ensure that
the residents of Fareham have access to good
quality housing that is affordable and offers a
choice of tenures. We will take action to
prevent homelessness and help people to
secure good quality accommodation. We will
support vulnerable people to access housing
suitable for their needs and help them to keep
their tenancies going.



Providing advice and assistance to
prevent homelessness.



Ensuring that good temporary
accommodation is available for homeless
people in priority need.

What do we aim to achieve?
The improvement actions that we aim to
achieve by 2017 are to:


enable the provision of 500 new affordable
homes throughout the Borough by 2017;



modernise and improve sheltered housing
across the Borough, including the
redevelopment of Collingwood House,
Fareham.
Providing access to affordable housing

What else are we doing?



Providing affordable homes for people in
housing need.

Supporting and enabling an affordable
housing market



Providing a support and advice service to
the Council's tenants.



Repairing and improving the Council's
housing.



Consulting and involving the Council's
tenants in the way the service is delivered.



Enabling access to rented homes for
people on low incomes and people who
are homeless or vulnerable.



Ensuring that there is enough land for
housing development across the Borough.



Ensuring that all sectors of the community
are able to be housed appropriately.



Working with landlords to maintain
housing standards.



Offering advice and grants to help reduce
energy costs.



Providing home safety and security
checks.



Providing grants to adapt homes to enable
people with disabilities to live
independently.

Page | 12


Page 92

Maintaining the borough's rented housing
stock


Assessing local housing conditions.



Providing advice on the legal standards for
rented housing.



Improving standards of Houses in Multiple
Occupation (HMOs).



Reducing the level of hazards under the
Housing Health and Safety Rating
System.



Improving home energy ratings under the
Standard Assessment Procedure (SAP).



Bringing empty properties back into use.



Reducing the number of vulnerable
households living in sub-standard homes.



Working closely with private sector
landlords to improve house conditions and
standards of management and
maintenance.

How happy are you with our services?

2.

Should the Council be doing more to
build new affordable* homes for local
people?

*Affordable housing is provided by the Council or
Housing Association at less than market rents. This also
includes shared ownership properties whereby around
50% of the house is purchased and the other 50%
Strongly
agree
29%

Tend to
agree
39%

Tend to
disagree
23%

Strongly
disagree
9%

Your answers to our 2013 Residents' Survey
rented.
helped to give a snap-shot of public satisfaction
How often does the Council attend housing
with various council services.
repair appointments when we say we will?
1.
Do you agree or disagree with the
following statements:
In 2014/15, the Council attended 96% of
There are enough opportunities for young
people to rent or buy a home of their own in
Fareham.
Strongly
agree
4%

Tend to
agree
43%

Tend to
disagree
40%

appointments.

Strongly
disagree
14%

There are enough opportunities for young
families to rent or buy a home of their own
in Fareham.
Strongly
agree
4%

Tend to
agree
46%

Tend to
disagree
38%

Strongly
disagree
12%

There are enough opportunities for older
people to rent or buy a home in Fareham.
Strongly
agree
7%

Tend to
agree
62%

Tend to
disagree
22%

Strongly
disagree
9%

Page | 13


Page 93

How are we doing?
There are a number of performance measures that are used to show whether the Council is
delivering its vision. These include:
How many new affordable homes have been provided?
In 2014/15, 96 new affordable homes were provided.

How long does it take to re-let Council homes?
In 2014/15, the average re-let time was approximately 30 days compared to 28 days in 2013/14.

How long does it take the Council to make a housing repair?
In 2014/15, it took the Council an average of 7 days to complete a housing repair.

Page | 14


Page 94

Strong and Inclusive Communities
Paying housing and Council Tax Support

Providing a housing benefit and council
We will give people greater influence and power
tax benefits service.
over the decisions that affect their lives and

Investigating all allegations of benefit
build more inclusive communities by providing
fraud.
easy and affordable access to information and
How happy are you with our
services provided by the Council.

What is this priority about?

services?

What do we aim to achieve?

Your answers to our 2013 Residents' Survey
helped to give a snap-shot of public satisfaction
with various council services.

The improvement actions that we aim to
achieve by 2017 are to:


tackle the underlying causes of
deprivation through projects such as the
Fareham Park 'Gateway' Project;



focus on customer needs and satisfaction
through improved communications and
targeted service delivery.

1.

How well informed do you feel about
each of the following?
Events going on in Fareham
Very well
informed

Fairly well
informed

Not well
informed

17%

64%

15%

What else are we doing?
Building stronger communities

Providing opportunities for local people to
get involved in their neighbourhoods.

Ensuring customers can make their views
known to the Council.

Not well
informed
at all
3%

Fareham Borough Council Services
Very well
informed

Fairly well
informed

Not well
informed

14%

62%

20%

Not well
informed
at all
3%

Building inclusive communities

Making sure all customers can access the
Council's services.
Enabling people to play an active part in
society

Helping vulnerable or disadvantaged
people to become involved in community
activities and use community facilities.

Planning and providing community and
leisure facilities.

Providing grants to voluntary
organisations.

Ensuring that people who are eligible to
vote are registered to vote.

Page | 15


Page 95

Fareham Today magazine, produced three
times a year and delivered to all households in
the Borough, is one of the Council's main
sources of communication with its residents.
2.

3.

Strongly
agree
29%

How many times a year do you read
Fareham Today?
Once

Twice

3 times

6%

5%

8%

81%

Strongly
agree
32%

What would be the best way to
5.
distribute Fareham Today in the future?
Through
the door
84%

Tend to
agree
61%

By
email
9%

Thinking about your experiences, how
much do you agree or disagree with the
following statements?

Tend to
agree
63%

Tend to
agree
67%

Tend to
disagree
7%

Strongly
disagree
1%

Tend to
disagree
4%

Strongly
disagree
1%

How would you prefer to be contacted
in the future? Please only tick one
option.

Phone

40%

Website

Email

25%

Facebook

1%

Face-to-face

14%

Text

1%

Letter

10%

Twitter

0%

I found the Council welcoming
Strongly
agree
24%

Tend to
disagree
4%

I was treated with respect

Never

Online on
our website
7%

4.

The Council is easy to contact

Strongly
disagree
2%

Page | 16


Page 96

10%

6.

How have you contacted the Council in the last 12 months?
Daily

Weekly

Monthly

Quarterly

Never

Website

0%

1%

3%

24%

73%

Letter

0%

0%

1%

14%

85%

Text

0%

0%

0%

2%

98%

0%

1%

1%

23%

75%

1%

1%

4%

42%

51%

1%

0%

1%

22%

76%

Facebook

0%

0%

0%

1%

99%

Twitter

0%

0%

0%

0%

100%

Email
Phone
Face-to-face

How are we doing?
There are a number of performance measures that are used to show whether the Council is
delivering its vision. These include:
How long does it take to deal with new Housing Benefit claims?
In 2014/15, it took an average of 10 days to process new claims, a decrease of 7 days on the
previous year.

How long does it take to deal with new Council Tax Support claims?
In 2014/15, it took an average of 10 days to process new claims, a decrease of 7 days on the
previous year.

How much have we paid out in community funding?
In 2014/15, we paid out 39 grants worth £111,700 in community funding. This is an increase of 16
grants and £51,000 on the previous year.

Page | 17


Page 97

A Dynamic, Prudent and Progressive Council
What is this priority about?
We will make clear decisions that can be
understood by all. Action will be taken to
improve our openness in decision-making.
Above all our priority is to offer good value for
money. We will do this by providing high levels
of service that gain high levels of customer
satisfaction. We will do this and still keep
council tax levels low when compared to other
district councils.

Encouraging local democracy

Registering residents who are eligible to
vote in elections.

Organising elections.

Reviewing boundaries and election
arrangements.

What do we aim to achieve?
The improvement actions that we aim to
achieve by 2017 are to:


maximise the value gained from assets
that are owned by the Council;



save money, raise income and work in
partnership with others to achieve more
for less and continue to minimise council
tax increases.

What else are we doing?
Managing the Council's resources

Publishing a statement of the Council's
accounts.

Maintaining effective financial control and
internal audit.

Maximising the rate of Council Tax
collection.

Preventing, detecting and investigating
fraud and corruption.

Putting plans in place to keep our services
going in an emergency.

Ensuring suitable measures are in place to
bring about steadily improving services

Demonstrating continuous improvement
and achievement of value for money.

Maximising partnership arrangements with
other organisations to benefit the
Borough.

Reviewing services and achieving better
value for money.

Ensuring transparent decision making

Supporting elected and other members to
carry out their role.

Providing timely access to meeting papers
and maximising decisions made in public.

Setting rules and procedures to be
followed by the Council and Committees
when carrying out their business.

Page | 18


Page 98

How happy are you with our services? How are we doing?
Your answers to our 2013 Residents' Survey
There are a number of performance measures
helped to give a snap-shot of public satisfaction that are used to show whether the Council is
with various council services.
delivering its vision. These include:
Band D Council Tax is £1,393.74 a year in
Fareham. From this Fareham Borough
Council only takes a sum of £140.22 to help
fund your services. The majority of the
Council Tax is passed on to the County
Council, the Police and the Fire Authority.
1.

Tend to
agree
66%

Tend to
disagree
9%

Strongly
disagree
2%

Overall, how happy are you with your
local area as a place to live?
Very
happy
54%

3.

The Council Tax collection rate for 2014/15 was
98.6%. This is a decrease of 0.1% on the
previous year.

Do you agree or disagree that Fareham
How low is Fareham's Council Tax
Borough Council provides value for
compared to other district councils in
money?
England?
Strongly
agree
23%

2.

How much Council Tax due is collected?

Fairly
happy
42%

Fairly
unhappy
2%

Very
unhappy
1%

Overall, how happy are you with the
way that Fareham Borough Council
runs things?
Very
happy
30%

Fairly
happy
61%

Fairly
unhappy
7%

Very
unhappy
1%

For 2015/16, Fareham's Council Tax is the 5th
lowest out of all 201 district councils in England.

How much of the Business Rates due are
collected?
In 2014/15, 99.0% of the business rates due
were collected. This is a decrease of 0.3% on
the previous year.

How many people turn out to vote at local
elections?

In the last local election (May 2014), 38.9% of
This year, Fareham Borough Council's share
the registered electors turned out to vote at the
of the total Council Tax collected was frozen
Fareham Borough Council election. This was
for the sixth consecutive year.
2.9% above the average for England.
4.
Which Council Tax option do you
The turnout at the General Election (May 2015)
prefer?
was 71.1%, which was 5.0% above the overall

14% said Council Tax should be raised in UK turnout figure.
line with inflation each year.

28% said people who use services, e.g.
sports pitches and off-street parking,
should be asked to pay more for them,
rather than raise Council Tax.

57% said the Council should strike a
balance between increasing charges to
service users and small increases in
Council Tax.

2% said Council Tax should increase by
more than inflation, to provide even better
services.

Page | 19


Page 99

Strategic Framework

Corporate Strategy

Local Plan
(Core Strategy)
Theme Strategies
e.g. Housing/
Ecomonic Development/
Leisure

Medium-term Vision and
Priorities

Local Service Agreements
Short-term Activities and
Actions Delivered by
Individual Services

Individual Staff / Team
Objectives
Agreed at Individual
Performance Management
meetings

Page | 20

Fareham Borough Council
Civic Offices, Civic Way, Fareham PO16 7AZ
Page 100

Medium-term
Financial Strategy

Annual Budget

Agenda Item 10(3)

Report to the Executive for Decision
7 September 2015
Portfolio:

Policy and Resources

Subject:

Citizen of Honour Award Scheme – Special Achievement
Category

Report of:

Director of Finance and Resources

Strategy/Policy:

Community Engagement

Corporate Objective:

Strong and Inclusive Communities

Purpose:
To consider the proposal of presenting a Special Achievement award, under the Citizen of
Honour scheme, to Isaac Waddington after reaching the final of Britain’s Got Talent.
Executive summary:
The Executive has previously agreed arrangements for a Special Achievement Category,
under the Citizen of Honour Award Scheme, to recognise and celebrate special
achievements of residents within the Borough. Isaac Waddington is a Fareham resident
and recently reached the 2015 finals of Britain’s Got Talent. Isaac succeeded in finishing
fifth at the finals and has subsequently been signed by television producer and music talent
scout Simon Cowell. It is proposed that a Special Achievement award be presented to
Isaac in recognition of his musical achievements.

Recommendation:
That Isaac Waddington is presented with a Citizen of Honour Special Achievement Award
in recognition for his musical achievements and in reaching the final of the television
programme Britain’s Got Talent.

Reason:
To recognise the special achievement made by reaching the final of Britain’s Got Talent.
Cost of proposals:
The cost of the award will be met from existing resources for Civic events.
Appendices:

None

Page 101

Reference papers:

Citizen of Honour Award Scheme – Special Achievement
Category – Executive report 9 March 2009

Page 102

Executive Briefing Paper
Date:

7 September 2015

Subject:

Citizen of Honour Award Scheme – Special Achievement Category

Briefing by:

Director of Finance and Resources

Portfolio:

Policy and Resources

INTRODUCTION
1.

In March 2009 the Executive agreed arrangements for a Special Achievement
Category, under the Citizen of Honour Award Scheme, to recognise and celebrate
special achievements. Unlike the normal Citizen of Honour Awards nominations can be
put forward at any time.

2.

This report seeks approval for a Special Achievement award to a local resident, in
recognition of their talents and achievements at a national level.

BACKGROUND
3.

Isaac Waddington is a Fareham resident and recently reached the 2015 finals of the
television programme Britain’s Got Talent as a singer/songwriter. Isaac succeeded in
finishing fifth in the national competition, and has subsequently been signed by Simon
Cowell’s label, Syco. Such an achievement is significant, but at the age of 15, Isaac is
really in the very early stages of his career.

4.

It is proposed that a Special Achievement award be presented to Isaac in recognition of
his achievements within the field of music. As per the award scheme, Isaac would be
presented with a Citizen of Honour medal and certificate, by the Mayor, at an event in
the Mayor’s Parlour, as soon as possible. He would also be presented with a special
achievement award at the 2016 Mayor Making event. As a Citizen of Honour, Isaac
would be invited to attend the usual events throughout the year.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
5.

There are no significant financial implications associated with this award. As per the
scheme, agreed by the Executive, any costs will be covered by the existing Civic events
budget.

PROPOSAL
6.

That Isaac Waddington is presented with a Citizen of Honour Special Achievement
Award in recognition for reaching the 2015 national final of the television programme
Britain’s Got Talent.
Page 103

CONCLUSION
7.

The Executive agreed arrangements for a Special Achievement Category, as part of the
Citizen of Honour Award Scheme, to allow exceptional achievements to be recognised
outside of the usual Citizen of Honour Scheme. Reaching the final of a national
competition, particularly one as prominent as Britain’s Got Talent, is proposed to be
such an achievement that should be recognised with a Special Achievement Award.

Reference Papers: None

Page 104

Agenda Item 11(1)

Report to the Executive for Decision
7 September 2015
Portfolio:
Subject:
Report of:
Strategy/Policy:
Corporate
Objective:

Policy and Resources / Health and Housing
Purchase of Garages - Wynton Way, Fareham
Director of Finance and Resources & Director of Community
Asset Management Plan
Housing Strategy
A dynamic, prudent and progressive Council
A balanced housing market

Purpose:
To report a change to the terms provisionally agreed for the purchase of two
garages at Wynton Way, Fareham as approved by the Executive on 1 December
2014.

Executive summary:
The Executive were advised in a report considered on 1 December 2014 that the
majority of the site as shown for identification purposes only on Appendix B is owned
by the Council and includes19 garages in two blocks. The garages are in low
demand with 7 let to tenants and 10 currently empty. The other 2 garages, as shown
shaded on the plan, were sold in 1984 and 1985 under the Right to Buy Scheme,
subsequently resold and are therefore in private ownership.
The land in Council ownership is included in the current Strategic Housing Land
Availability Assessment and has long been regarded as potentially suitable for a
housing redevelopment. The opportunity had arisen to purchase the two garages
not in FBC ownership which will facilitate in conjunction with the Hampshire County
Council (HCC) adjoining land as shown on Appendix B, a future affordable housing
scheme. Discussions with HCC for the purchase of their land are taking place. The
terms provisionally agreed for the purchase of the two garages are set out in the
confidential Appendix A. This includes a change to the terms and the reason why
this is necessary.

Recommendation/Recommended Option:
That the Executive approves the revised terms provisionally agreed for the purchase
of two garages at Wynton Way, Fareham, as set out in confidential Appendix A.

Reason:
To obtain the approval to the revised terms provisionally agreed for the purchase of
two garages at Wynton Way, Fareham.

Page 105

Cost of proposals:
The purchase price is set out in the confidential Appendix A.

Appendices:

A: Confidential appendix setting out the revised terms
provisionally agreed for the purchase of two garages located
at Wynton Way, Fareham. (Exempt By virtue of paragraph
(3) of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act
1972.)
B: Site Plan

Background papers:

Page 106

Executive Briefing Paper
Date: 7 September 2015
Subject: Purchase of Garages - Wynton Way, Fareham
Briefing by: Director of Finance and Resources & Director of Community
Portfolio: Policy and Resources/Health and Housing
INTRODUCTION
1. As the Executive were advised in a report which they considered on 1 December
2014 the majority of the site as shown for identification purposes only on Appendix
B is owned by the Council and includes 19 garages in two blocks. The garages are
in low demand with only 7 let to tenants and 10 currently empty. Vacant
possession of the 7 tenanted garages can be obtained by the Council. However 2
of the garages as shown shaded on the plan were sold to housing tenants in 1984
and 1985 under the Right to Buy Scheme and subsequently purchased by the
current owner in 2007 and 2008. The garages are therefore in private ownership.
2. The land in Council ownership is included in the current Strategic Housing Land
Availability Assessment and has long been regarded as potentially suitable for a
housing redevelopment. An opportunity arose to re-purchase the 2 garages which
will facilitate in conjunction with Hampshire County Council’s (HCC) adjoining land
as shown on Appendix B, a future housing scheme of circa 13 properties subject
to planning. Discussions with HCC to purchase the land in their ownership are
taking place.
TERMS AGREED FOR PURCHASE
3. Negotiations for the purchase of the 2 garages were undertaken with the owner.
This will achieve the entire site coming back under the control of the Council and
paves the way for the housing scheme mentioned in paragraph 2. The terms
provisionally agreed for the purchase and approved by the Executive on 1
December 2014 are set out in the confidential Appendix A. The confidential
Appendix A also includes a change to the terms and the reason why this is
necessary.
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
4. The cost of the purchase of the garages will be funded from the Housing Revenue
Account.

Page 107

CONCLUSION
5. Revised terms have been provisionally agreed with the owner of 2 garages located
at Wynton Way, Fareham. The terms are set out in the confidential Appendix A
and are recommended for approval by the Executive.

Page 108

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 109

32
119

41

24

26

109

W

03
105 1

4

N
TO
N
Y
17

Y
WA

31

27

21

7
3

14

101

Kershaw

HCC
89

SO N
HILL

20

DRI V

100

E

FBC

88
86

84
75

70

Wynton Way, Fareham
Scale 1:1250

Oak Meadow Childrens Centre

This map is reproduced from Ordnance Survey material with the
permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her
Majesty’s Stationary Office © Crown Copyright. Unauthorised
reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution
or civilPage
proceedings.
111 Licence 100019110. 2014

µ

